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In 1974 Breville launched the ‘scissor-
action’ Snack-n-Sandwich Maker 
achieving an amazing 10% penetration 
of Australian households in its first year.

It is the icon that many people still 
associate with Breville.

As Asian cooking became more 
popular in Australia, Breville 
developed an Electric Wok that 
could replicate the even heating 
of gas by creating an innovative 
‘butterfly’ element bonded to a 
heavy gauge pan.

Before the development of the Breville Juice 
Fountain, making juice was messy and 
time consuming.

 This remarkable piece of engineering removed 
any preparation as it juiced whole fruit.

Breville Radio was registered in 
the depression era 1932 on an 
investment of £500. This was 
the origin of Breville innovation. 

Breville also designed and 
manufactured a number of 
appliances that were ahead 
of their time: among these 
products was the Breville Five 
Minute Washer, which enjoyed 
spectacular success before 
and after the war.

Breville Professional 800 Collection 
Programmable Espresso Machine. 
Breville’s unique trio of innovations: 
Auto-Purge, Triple-Prime and Advance 
Dual Wall Crema, extracts the essential 
ingredients for great tasting coffee.

This financial report covers both Housewares International 
Limited (Parent) as an individual entity and the consolidated 
entity (Group) comprising Housewares International Limited 
and its subsidiaries.

A description of the Group’s operations and of its principal 
activities is included in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on pages 10 to 19. The directors’ report 
is not part of the financial report.
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Last year I indicated that the company had reached a 
defining crossroad in its history whereby it had recognised 
the need to redefine its Australian business and grow in its 
increasingly attractive international markets.

It is now pleasing to report that this year saw the execution 
of four important strategic steps in focusing and revitalising 
the company on what is now its core Electrical and 
International business.

1.  The disposal of the loss making and non-core Australian 
Homewares and Sabco businesses.

2.  The acquisition of the remaining 50% interest of the 
Canadian based distribution business.

3.   The relocation of the company’s corporate office to the 
home of our global brand Breville and the group’s product 
development hub in Sydney, Australia.

4.   Continued investment in product innovation and 
development to support an important pipeline of new 
products into all our markets.

Our CEO Joe Hersch retired on 30 September 2007 after 
more than 17 years of service. Paul Hill has been appointed 
to this role and we now look forward to him leading the 
company forward to a new level of excellence, undistracted 
by the Australian Homewares issues of the past. Well 
regarded in the industry, Paul has held senior positions 
in Australia and Asia and has important and successful 
international marketing and supply experience.

Paul and his team now commence their commission, as 
Breville, the company’s leading brand celebrates its 75th 
birthday from its roots as a wireless manufacturer in 1932.

The 2007 financial results are fulsomely dealt with elsewhere 
in the Annual Report. Important observations are:

• The negative impact of the residual Australian Homewares 
business and its disposal during the year;

• The Australian Electrical business experienced difficult 
first half trading conditions but completed the second half 
of the year and the first quarter of the 2008 financial year 
trending positively;

• The International business continued to reflect good 
growth although the strong Australian dollar affected 
the translation of its USD results into Australian dollars;

• The continued investment in global product development 
and distribution and marketing infrastructure;

• The balance sheet remains conservative and will be 
further underwritten as the balance of the proceeds from 
the Australian Homewares disposals are received;

• No dividend was declared due to the significant Australian 
Homewares writedowns applied against distributable 
reserves.

Finally, I would like to thank my board colleagues, our 
dedicated management and staff, business partners and 
investors for their continued support during what was 
an extremely challenging but important 2007. We are 
increasingly confident that with the restructure initiatives 
now behind us the company will emerge as a more clearly 
focused and more profitable global participant in our 
industry sector.

�“A�revitalised�company�that�
is�now�focused�on�its�core�
Electrical�and�International�
business.”

John Schmoll 
Chairman

Chairman’s review
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The 2007 financial year can best be characterised as a year 
in which the company executed decisions which will enable 
it to move forward with a very defined business strategy. 
A year in which we divested our Australian Homewares 
division and restructed the business so that we have crystal 
clear focus. 

Critical to an appreciation of the company’s performance 
during the year, and equally important, the direction of the 
company going forward, is the result of the Continuing 
Operations - Electrical and International business, this being 
representative of the business of the restructured company. 
The part of the business classified as the Discontinued 
Operation has been disposed of.

Group sales increased from $424.2m to $436.9m with the 
Continuing Electrical and International sales increasing by 
6.1% to $371.3m. International sales increased by 16.9% 
to $178.8m.

The Australian market remained extremely competitive 
characterised by slow sell through in the Christmas period 
and increasing demands from our customers in relation to 
trading terms. Significant cost pressures from our overseas 
suppliers who are being impacted by raw material price 
increases, labour shortages and changing government 
tariff structures resulted in sporadic supply shortages due 
to several manufacturers not being able to ship goods 
in a timely manner. In comparison to first half Australian 
sales which declined by 6.0% compared to the prior year, 
second half sales increased by 3.2%. 

International sales for the second half, driven by the 
inclusion of Canada with effect from 1 January 2007, 
increased by 23.1%. Excluding the effect of Canada, 
International sales in USD terms increased by 8.5% 
for the full year.

Underlying Group NPAT (before significant items) for 2007 
at $11.6m was down on the prior year’s comparative of 
$16.1m primarily as a result of the $8.3m after tax loss of 
the discontinued Australian Homewares division. Underlying 
NPAT for the Continuing Electrical and International business 
finished the year at $19.9m versus the $22.2m achieved 
in the prior year.

During the year, the Group incurred significant one off 
costs primarily being the write down of assets of the now 
disposed of Australian Homewares business. The combined 
effects of the Australian Homewares losses and significant 
items of $53.9m, resulted in the company’s reported loss 
after tax and significant items of $34.0m. 

Net borrowings at financial year end were $71.9m, $8.1m 
higher than the prior year comparative. This increase 
in borrowings can in part be attributed to funding the 
purchase of the remaining 50% of the Canadian-based 
distribution business and the consequent consolidation of 
the Canadian borrowings into the company’s balance sheet 
(previously equity accounted). Notwithstanding the impact 
of the Canadian acquisition and the Australian Homewares 
losses and significant asset write downs, net borrowings 
to capital employed remained relatively conservative at 
38% (2006 : 29%).

Financial summary
 Group Continuing Electrical and International

$ millions except where indicated June 07 June 06 June 07 June 06

Sales revenue  436.9  424.2  371.3  349.9 

Underlyingˆ EBITDA  24.2  31.2  33.8  37.0 

Underlyingˆ net profit after tax  11.6  16.1  19.9  22.2 

Underlyingˆ earnings per share (cents)  9.3  13.3  16.0  18.3 

“…I�am�enthused�by�the�passion,�
commitment�and�global�industry�
knowledge�which�I�have�been�
greeted�with…”

Ceo’s review

ˆ before significant items 

hwi annual report 20072



Paul Hill
Chief Executive Officer

Review of operations

The company has continued transforming its business 
focus towards product development, functionality and 
award winning industrial design. Complementing this is a 
product driven direct sourcing program which is primarily 
designed to meet the needs of our Australian and New 
Zealand businesses. In line with this ongoing transformation, 
the company continues to do the following:

•  Build and resource a world-class development centre 
in Sydney, Australia;

•  Locate quality control and engineering resources in China;

•  Build an international marketing team with a global 
perspective;

•  Continue to invest in information and IT infrastructure 
to meet our growing needs;

•  Continue to invest in advertising programs which highlight 
the uniqueness of our products and their application and 
everyday use in the home;

•  Invest in relationships with overseas vendors to ensure 
that we are involved in the embryonic stages of product 
development;

• Carry out market research and identify opportunities;

• Work closely with our customers and end–users to identify 
challenges which require product solutions.

In addition to the above we are developing a strategic 
alliance program by forming partnerships with manufacturers 
and designers to increase the product offering available 
to the company, and increase the speed by which we 

go to market. An example of this is in the United States, 
where we have formed a partnership with Keurig who 
dominate the single serve coffee market. As a result of 
this partnership we will be launching our Breville model 
late in 2007 which incorporates Keurig technology with 
significant innovation and further development by our 
engineering team.

Conclusion

The focus of the Group has now formally moved towards its 
core competency, the Electrical and International business 
to which all energy and focus will be directed. To date, 
considerable investment has been made in a world class 
development and innovation centre in Sydney, Australia, 
which is starting to bear the fruits of innovative new 
products, best in class. Training of our staff, exposure to the 
global market, carrying out detailed research to identify and 
maximise trends will ensure that our product pipeline grows 
significantly in years to come.

Having only recently joined the team, I am enthused by the 
passion, commitment and global industry knowledge which 
I have been greeted with and look forward to capitalising on 
all the successes to date and taking the company forward. 
In concluding, I would like to thank and acknowledge 
outgoing CEO Joe Hersch and the team of employees for 
their efforts, loyalty and contribution during the past year 
and the support of both our suppliers and shareholders 
without which, none of the achievements to date would 
have been possible.
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Breville

The Breville brand has come a long way in 75 years, from 
the original investment of £500, when Breville was registered 
on Melbourne Cup day in 1932 by Bill O’Brien and Harry 
Norville. Breville’s success has been achieved through 
a continuation of its original philosophy of listening to 
consumer feedback and continuous innovation.

In Australia, a recent study carried out by renowned 
research company Millward Brown has seen Breville 
move to a clear number 1 position in spontaneous 
brand awareness for small domestic appliances, with the 
Kambrook and Philips brands securing the number 3 and 
number 4 positions respectively. Breville has also ranked 
the highest for purchase consideration and has the greatest 
attraction among non-users, implying that there is still even 
more potential for growth in the future.

Kambrook

The Kambrook brand has been recently relaunched under 
the slogan ‘Get more than you pay for’ and is now preparing 
for a period of extended growth. This year has also seen the 
launch of the Kambrook website (www.kambrook.com.au) 
as well as the development of new stand-out packaging. 

strong brand portfolio

As�Breville�prepares�to�celebrate�its�
75th�year,�the�company�has�further�
strengthened�its�position�in�both�the�
Australian�and�International�markets.

Philips is a dominant brand, particularly 
in core categories such as men’s shaving 
and ironing.

Philips

The Philips Domestic Appliance distribution business 
continues to grow from strength to strength with HWI. 
Philips male shaving which dominates the market category 
was awarded GfK Market Leadership 2006. With two new 
revolutionary male shaving product innovations launched 
in 2007, the Moisturising Shaving System and the ultra 
premium range; Arcitec, Philips will continue its market 
leadership position in this category. In the traditional 
ironing segment Philips has achieved phenomenal 
growth and currently is ranked number 2 in this category. 
During the year, Philips entered the hair care market with 
a range of Tresemme co-branded products which were 
very well received. 

New product areas will continue to be added to the portfolio 
to ensure consistent growth into the future.

Breville Professional 800 Collection Grill. 
Die-cast stainless steel professional grill 
which converts easily from a closed contact 
grill to an open BBQ grill with the flick of 
a switch.

hwi annual report 2007�



Kambrook Jaguar Bagless 
Vacuum Cleaner

Breville 
Professional 
800 Collection 
Blender

Breville 
Professional 800 
Collection Juicer

Philips Arcitec 
Electric Shaver
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The past year has not only seen strong demand for HWI 
designed products in our traditional markets of Australia and 
New Zealand, but a continued growth in demand in North 
America and Europe. We believe that the primary reason for 
this interest has been our focus to continue to innovate and 
design products that have a long standing appeal with  
our consumers. 

Our ongoing investment in our own product development and 
manufacturing resources is the key for our continued growth.

The expanded product development capacity has for the first 
time allowed HWI to concurrently launch new products both 
in the Australian and North American markets. This marks 
a significant step for HWI as new products can now be 
launched in multiple markets over a shorter period of time.

Continuing international growth has also allowed us to 
begin developing products exclusively for launch into the 
North American market. The first of these products will be 
launched during the 2008 financial year. 

We have and will continue to bolster our resources 
dedicated to the investigation and feasibility of new ideas, 
which will enable us to better follow emerging trends and 
changing consumer habits, and to develop innovation to 
meet these new consumer needs. 

The challenges of an evolving Asian manufacturing 
sector have required the development of new strategies. 
We will continue to focus on strengthening strategic supply 
relationships, as well as building new ones.

We believe it is only through our continued commitment to 
innovation and development that we can deliver the product 
differentiation we require to build our global business. 

strong Commitment to  
innovation and growth

HWI’s�commitment�to�provide�its�
customers�with�innovative,�high�quality�
products�continues�to�remain�a�key�
focus�for�the�company.

HWI Awards 2007

Breville BES400 
Espresso Machine 

Australian Design Award 2007 
Home Beautiful Award 2007

´´´

Breville 800CP Citrus Press  
German iF Design Award 

December 2006

´´´

Breville BBL600 Blender 
USA IDSA Design Award 

(Bronze) 2007

Breville Professional 800 
Collection Citrus Press. 
Stylish, easy-clean citrus 
press designed for fast, 
simple and efficient juice 
extraction.

hwi annual report 2007�



North America

Electrical remains the biggest growth opportunity with 
the relatively flat Homewares businesses continuing to 
deliver reliable sales and profit contributions, and a solid 
infrastructure to leverage electrical growth. 

The 2007 financial year was characterised by a 
reorganisation of the USA business including relocation 
into new, larger and purpose specific premises. With the 
USA infrastructure now solidified to support future growth, 
the Canadian acquisition completed, a strong list of new 
product introductions due to arrive on time in the 2008 
financial year, and Breville brand equity and awareness 
continuing to increase, North America is poised for strong 
growth. Breville has become a market leader in the Juice 
and Espresso categories, however many large categories 
remain relatively untapped, and Breville is pursuing 
these aggressively.

In addition to organic growth derived from Australian 
designed product, specific opportunities in the region also 
lie in strategic partnerships with other industry players, 

and in leveraging Breville’s technology into broader 
distribution channels. Keurig, who dominate the mass 
market in single serve coffee, have agreed to partner with 
Breville to develop a premium, Breville branded product 
offering. Breville is also leveraging some of its more 
moderately priced products into new distribution channels 
in the USA, using one of its Homeware’s brands, BlinQ. 
Such expanded distribution strategies are anticipated to 
further grow revenues in the region. 

Asia

Asia which incorporates our Export division, sells product 
to markets where HWI does not have a direct presence, 
is growing rapidly with premium products and innovative 
marketing having continued success throughout Europe, 
South Africa and Asia. Resource is being progressively 
added to support the rapid influx of interest stemming from 
international trades shows and Breville’s visible success in 
North America. HWI continues to build strategic alliances 
with distributors in new markets such as Latin America, 
Asia, Europe and the Middle East. Establishing a direct 
presence in key markets is also an opportunity.

strong growth opportunities

The�International�market�remains�
the�core�opportunity�for�future�growth�
with�many�sectors�still�significantly�
under�penetrated.

Breville Single Serve 
Brewer, utilising the 
Keurig brewing system.

7



Australian Innovation

Independent research organisation GfK, has recognised 
Breville Australia leadership in the key categories of juicers, 
sandwich makers, blenders, toasters, coffee makers and 
bread makers. In New Zealand, Breville is the brand leader 
in 12 appliance categories. Global Breville brand awareness 
continues to grow.

Although Breville is predominantly a mass mid to upper market 
brand, the Breville philosophy is about enriching consumers 
lives through the joy of engaging and empowering, through the 
mastery of technology and design – a marriage of the heart 
and the mind.

In response to consumer demands, this commitment to 
excellence and innovation has been shown through the 
launch of the Ikon Series and the Professional 800 Collection. 

The Kambrook brand is now well positioned in the 
mid-market, gaining strong interest from mass retailers. 
The brand has a winter skew, with a broad heating and 
electric blanket offering, as well as a complete kitchen 
product range. By providing exceptional value for money 
and gaining mass market ranging, the future looks very 
strong for this heritage Australian brand.

Skilful product development and selection is recognised 
by consumers, with many products achieving leadership 
in a number of large categories, including kettles, blenders, 
mixers, juicers, espresso coffee machines and grinders. 

As trade support for national brands grows, with strong 
brand recognition and high consumer appeal, backed by 
a commitment to product quality, the platform for future 
growth is robust.

With�brand�positioning,�clarity�of�
a�portfolio�of�renowned�brands,�
HWI�is�considered�the�Australian�market�
leader�in�small�domestic�appliances.

 
market position strength

hwi annual report 2007�
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diRectoRS’ RepoRt

The board of directors of Housewares International 
Limited (HWI or Company) has pleasure in submitting 
its report in respect of the year ended 30 June 2007.

Board of directors

The names and details of the Company’s directors in 
office during the year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Directors were in office for this entire period unless 
indicated otherwise.

John Schmoll
Non-Executive Chairman,
B.Com, FCA, FAICD, CFTP
Mr Schmoll is a former Chief Financial Officer of Coles Myer 
Limited. He has an extensive career in retail and distribution 
services including that of Finance Director with the Edgars 
Group, South Africa’s largest apparel and household goods 
retailer. Mr Schmoll is currently Principal of John Schmoll and 
Associates, specialising in corporate advisory and executive 
support services. Apart from the following listed companies, 
Mr Schmoll has also been a director of Golden Circle Ltd 
since April 2005.

During the last three years he has served as a director of 
the following other listed companies:

–  AWB Limited (since March 2005)#

–  Australian Leisure and Hospitality Limited

–  OrotonGroup Ltd (since November 2005)#

–  Chandler Macleod Ltd (since December 2005)#

# denotes current directorship

Joseph Hersch
Managing Director,
CA(SA)
Mr Hersch is managing director of the HWI group. He has 
over twenty years experience in the consumer products 
industry in Australia.

During the last three years he has not served as a director 
of any other listed company.

Steven Fisher
Non-Executive Director,
B.ACC, CA(SA)
Mr Fisher has more than 20 years experience in general 
management positions in the wholesale consumer goods 
industry and is currently general manager of the Voyager Group. 
Mr Fisher is chairman of the audit & risk committee.

During the last three years he has not served as a director 
of any other listed company.

Steven Klein
Non-Executive Director,
LLB, B.Com
Mr Klein has had extensive legal experience in mergers and 
acquisitions, capital raisings, and public company takeovers. 
Mr Klein has been a partner of Arnold Bloch Leibler since 1996.

During the last three years he has not served as a director of 
any other listed company.

John McConnell
Non-Executive Director,
B.Com, FAICD, FAIM, F.Fin
Mr McConnell has had over 35 years experience in banking 
and finance with ANZ Banking Group in Australia, New 
Zealand, and the United Kingdom, and has held various board 
positions within that Group. Mr McConnell is chairman of the 
remuneration committee.

During the last three years he has served as a director of the 
following other listed companies:

–  Equity Trustees Limited (since January 2002)#

–  HarvestRoad Limited (Chairman) (since March 2005)#

–  ASG Group Ltd (since November 2005)#

# denotes current directorship

Company secretaries

The names and details of the Company’s company secretaries 
in office during the year and until the date of this report are as 
follows. Company secretaries were in office for this entire period 
unless indicated otherwise.

Paul Milburn
B.Sc(Hons), CA
Mr Milburn has been company secretary since January 2006. 
He is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years experience 
in senior commercial finance roles, including 17 years with the 
Breville group.

Laurelle Jackson
(Resigned, 28 September 2006)
B.Bus, CPA
Ms Jackson was company secretary for 4 years. She is 
a Certified Practicing Accountant and has, over the past 
13 years, held senior financial roles in a number of Australian 
consumer products companies.

hWi annual RepoRt 200710



Reporting currency and rounding

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollar 
($’000) unless otherwise stated under the option available to 
the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company 
is an entity to which the class order applies.

Principal activities

During the year, the principal activities of the consolidated entity 
were the innovation, development, marketing and distribution of 
small electrical appliances, homewares and cleaning products 
in the consumer products industry. The consolidated entity 
operated in the principal markets of Australia, the United States 
of America, Canada, New Zealand, and Hong Kong.

Company overview

The company has transformed the focus of its business 
operations, particularly during the last two years, towards 
innovative product development and the expansion of its 
Electrical business.

The underlying strategic intent of the company is a stated 
commitment to innovative product development, to drive sales 
growth in Australia and the broader international market. In line 
with this intent, the company has;

–  built and staffed a world class product development centre 
in Sydney,

–  maintained efficient procurement and quality assurance 
centres in Hong Kong and Shanghai,

–  employed experienced marketing and sales executives in its 
key markets around the world, and

–  maintained effective administration processes to support 
growth initiatives on an international platform.

The result of this transformation is that an increasing proportion 
of the company’s earnings are being derived from the Electrical 
and International businesses and, in particular, the company’s 
offshore business units.

Performance indicators

Management and the board monitor the financial performance 
of the company by measuring actual results against 
expectations, as developed through an annual business 
planning and budgeting process.

Appropriate key performance indicators (KPI’s) are used to 
monitor operating performance and management effectiveness.

Review of operations

The 2007 year was an extremely challenging year for the 
company. Important restructure initiatives were identified which 
culminated in the disposal of the Australian Homewares and 
SABCO businesses. The company’s energies will now be 
focused on Electrical and International; the core competencies.

As a result of the sale of the Australian Homewares and SABCO 
businesses, in accordance with Australian accounting standards, 
the trading performance of the consolidated group has been split 
between continuing and discontinuing operations.

The company continued to invest in its product innovation and 
development infrastructures to support its market positions 
globally ensuring an even flow of new products into all markets.

Financial performance

Sales revenues of the continuing operations of the consolidated 
entity for the year to 30 June 2007 were $371,279,000, which 
was 6% higher than the consolidated sales for the previous 
corresponding year (2006: $349,850,000). The mix of the 
Group sales figures now reflected a higher proportion of sales 
from the North America and Asian export businesses, while 
New Zealand’s share of total sales has decreased due to the 
decision to limit its exposure to price entry point and direct 
import product categories.

The Group’s underlying profit after tax from continuing 
operations (after adjusting for non-recurring charges) for 
the year to 30 June 2007 was $19,920,000. This was down 
11% on the previous corresponding year of $22,293,000. 
The non-recurring charges primarily relate to the write-down 
of assets of the now disposed of Australian Homewares and 
SABCO businesses.

The Group’s loss after tax from discontinuing operations for the 
year to 30 June 2007 was $(50,873,000) (2006: $(8,160,000)), 
after recognising an impairment loss of $37,359,000. After the 
inclusion of this loss from discontinuing operations, the net 
loss attributable to shareholders was $(34,025,000) (2006: 
$13,360,000). A final dividend could not be considered due to 
the Homewares’ significant write-downs being applied against 
distributable reserves.

The earnings per share for the consolidated entity was 
–27.37 cents per share (2006: 10.99 cents per share), with 
the earnings per share from continuing operations decreasing 
from 17.70 to 13.55.

Financial position

Operating cash flow for the year was $12,791,000 (2006: 
$30,430,000) and proceeds were used to fund the acquisition 
of the remaining 50% interest in the Canadian joint venture 
CAD$ (8,163,000). In addition, the consolidation of the 
Canadian business with effect from January 2007 resulted in 
the Canadian net borrowings at 30 June 2007 being included 
in the company’s net debt at year end. Net debt completed the 
year at $71,854,000 (2006: $63,817,000) and represents 38% 
debt to capital employed ratio.

11



Risk management

The company’s risk management is discussed in the 
Corporate Governance Statement.

Dividends

The following dividends have been paid, declared or 
recommended since the end of the preceding year. The 
payment of dividends is subject to shareholder participation 
in the dividend reinvestment plan.

 Cents per 
 ordinary share $’000

Dividends paid in the year: 
Previous year final dividend paid 3.5 4,322

Significant changes in the state of affairs

There were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of 
the consolidated entity that occurred during the year that have 
not otherwise been disclosed in this report or the consolidated 
financial statements.

Directors’ interests

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors 
in the shares, options, or other instruments of Housewares 
International Limited were:
  Options 
   over 
 Ordinary Ordinary 
 Shares Shares

J Schmoll 10,000 –

J Hersch 2,143,292 1,166,666

S Klein 111,425 –

S Fisher 273 –

J McConnell  63,661 –

Remuneration report (Audited)

This report outlines the compensation arrangements in place for 
directors and executives of Housewares International Limited.

Compensation philosophy

The performance of the company depends upon the quality 
of its directors and executives. To prosper the company must 
attract, retain, motivate and develop highly skilled directors and 
executives in order to secure the longevity of the business.

Based on this philosophy, the company embodies in its 
compensation strategy and framework a total rewards 
approach that joins two interrelated outcomes: improved 
business results and a focus on a performance based culture.

The following principles define the compensation framework:

–  Provision of competitive rewards (in terms of fixed and 
variable pay) to attract high calibre and adept executives;

–  Return and benefit to the shareholder and linking of executive 
reward to shareholder value and business results;

–  Drive desired value creation and desired behaviours in 
the workforce, including establishment of demanding 
performance hurdles in relation to variable executive 
compensation; and

–  Reinforcement of the overall business strategy and 
organisational success.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee of the board of directors of the 
company is responsible for determining and reviewing the 
total compensation arrangements for directors and the senior 
executive team.

The remuneration committee assesses the appropriateness 
of the nature and amount of compensation of key management 
personnel on an annual basis by reference to relevant 
performance, market conditions and by also taking into 
consideration internal relativities.

Compensation structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, 
the structure of non-executive director and senior executive 
employee compensation is separate and distinct.

diRectoRS’ RepoRt
continued
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Non-executive director compensation

Objective
The board seeks to set aggregate compensation at a level 
which provides the company with the ability to attract and 
retain directors of high calibre, whilst incurring a cost which 
is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure
The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the 
aggregate compensation of non-executive directors shall be 
determined from time to time by a general meeting. An amount 
not exceeding the amount determined is then divided by the 
board between the directors. The aggregate compensation of 
$475,000 per year was approved by shareholders at the annual 
general meeting held in November 2006.

The compensation of non-executive directors is 
reviewed annually.

Each director receives a fee for being a director of the company. 
An additional fee is also paid for each director who also acts as 
chairperson of a board committee. The payment of additional 
fees for acting as chairman of a committee recognises the 
additional time commitment required by the director to facilitate 
the running of the committee.

The compensation of non-executive directors for the year 
ended 30 June 2007 is detailed in Table 1 on page 16 of 
this report.

Senior executive compensation

Objective
The company aims to remunerate and reward executives with 
a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their 
position and responsibilities within the company and to:

–  Reward executives for company and individual performance 
against specific targets set with reference to business 
objectives and results;

–  Align the interest, focus and performance of the executives 
with those of the shareholders;

–  Offer performance based incentives that encourage 
executives to strive for the achievement of both individual 
and divisional results;

–  Attract and retain talented executives; and

–  Ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards.

Structure
In determining the level and make-up of executive 
compensation, the remuneration committee engages an 
external consultant on an annual basis to provide independent 
advice in the form of a written report detailing market levels 
of compensation for comparable executives’ roles across 
all global locations. The group human resources manager 
provides a summary of the report and recommendations 
to the remuneration committee for consideration.

It is the remuneration committee’s policy that employment 
contracts are entered into with the executive directors. 
Details of the contracts are provided on page 15.

Compensation consists of the following key elements:

–  Fixed Compensation

–  Variable Compensation 
– Short Term Incentive (STI); and 
– Long Term Incentive (LTI)

The proportion of the fixed compensation and variable 
compensation (potential short term and long term incentives) 
is established for each senior executive by the remuneration 
committee.

Table 2 on page 17 of this report details the variable 
components (%) of the compensation of key management 
personnel of the Group.

Fixed compensation

Objective
The level of fixed compensation is set so as to provide a base 
level of compensation which is appropriate to the position and 
is competitive in the market.

Fixed compensation is reviewed annually by the remuneration 
committee and the process consists of reviewing performance, 
relevant comparative market compensation, internal relativities 
and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and 
practices. As noted above, the committee has access to 
external advice independent of management when required.

Structure
Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed 
compensation in a variety of forms including cash and fringe 
benefits such as motor vehicles. It is intended that the manner 
of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without 
creating undue cost for the company.
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Remuneration report (Audited) continued

Variable compensation – short term incentive (STI)

Objective
The objective of the STI program is to reward senior executives 
on the achievement of performance objectives, providing 
them with the opportunity to earn over and above their fixed 
compensation should the agreed objectives be achieved. 
Executives are eligible to earn a percentage of their base 
pay, being 30% based on their position and seniority in the 
organisation. This only applies to direct reports of the Managing 
Director. The incentive payment is based on the achievement 
of individual and group objectives. This is determined on an 
individual executive basis.

The principal objectives of the plan are:

–  to ensure that the organisation delivers its primary 
financial measures and targets on an annual basis 
to deliver sustainable performance and continuing 
organisational growth;

–  to achieve the business goals through rewarding individual 
contribution and performance; and

–  to promote and facilitate the concept of shared ownership 
whereby executives who contribute to the success of the 
organisation will also share in that success.

The total potential STI available is set at a level so as to 
provide sufficient incentive to the senior executives to 
achieve operational targets and such that the cost to the 
company is reasonable.

Structure
Actual STI payments to key management personnel are 
dependent on the extent to which the specific operating targets 
set at the commencement of the year are met. The operational 
targets consist of a number of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s) covering both financial and non-financial measures of 
performance. For the senior team the KPIs are categorised 
into six key result areas: financial (both company & individual); 
vision & strategy; projects & business improvement; customer 
focus (internal or external); occupational health & safety and 
compliance; and people & culture. Typically included are 
measures such as underlying earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT) contribution, sales, margin, management of department 
expenses, employee development & staff training, customer 
service performance, and product development & category 
management. The company has predetermined benchmarks 
which must be met in order to trigger payments under the short 
term incentive scheme and these are varied on a yearly basis 
in line with the annual budgeting process.

On an annual basis, after consideration of performance 
against the established KPI’s, incorporating both individual 
and group objectives, a review is undertaken by the group 
human resources manager and managing director to determine 
the amount, if any, of the short term incentive payment 
each executive is eligible to receive. A recommendation 
by the managing director is then put to the remuneration 
committee for approval. The managing director may also 
award discretionary bonuses to the senior executive team 

for significant contributions to the business and for outstanding 
performance. All discretionary bonuses are also presented as 
recommendations to the remuneration committee for approval.

The aggregate of the annual STI payments available for 
executives across the company is subject to the approval of the 
remuneration committee and payments are typically paid as a 
cash bonus. The minimum amount of the STI cash payments 
assuming that no executives meet their respective KPIs for the 
2007 financial year is nil.

Variable compensation – long term incentive (LTI)

Objective
The objective of the LTI plan is to reward senior executives in 
a manner that aligns this element of compensation with the 
creation of shareholder wealth.

The LTI scheme is only made available to executives and 
key managers who are able to influence the generation of 
shareholder wealth and have a direct impact on the company’s 
performance against relevant long term performance hurdles.

Structure
LTI grants to senior executives are provided in the form of 
options issued in accordance with the HWI Second Option Plan 
at the determination of the Managing Director and as approved 
by the remuneration committee.

The company uses underlying earnings per share 
(underlying EPS) as the performance hurdle for the long term 
incentive plan. Underlying EPS represents the earnings per 
share from continuing operations adjusted for non-recurring 
significant items. The use of EPS is market practice as it 
ensures an alignment between shareholder return and reward 
for the executives.

Relationship of rewards to performance
The performance hurdle to be achieved is based on the 
company’s underlying EPS achieving growth over a three 
year term, of at least 10% per annum, compounded annually. 
Options will vest only if this performance hurdle is met. If the 
underlying EPS growth condition is not achieved in any year, 
the underlying EPS growth for that year will be carried forward 
and recalculated at the end of the following year until the end of 
the term of the options. As a result, options may still vest and 
become exercisable where the vesting conditions are met in a 
subsequent year.

In assessing whether the performance hurdles have been met 
each year, the company receives independent data which 
provides the underlying EPS growth achieved for the year. If the 
performance hurdle has been met, the executive will be able to 
exercise options as follows:

–  1/3 of the options issued, any time during the one year period 
commencing one year after the issue date;

–  1/3 of the options issued, any time during the one year period 
commencing two years after the issue date; and

–  1/3 of the options issued, any time during the one year period 
commencing three years after the issue date.

The exercise price of the options is based on the volume 
weighted average price of all the company’s shares traded on 
the ASX on the five trading days up to and including the issue 
date plus a premium of 11%.

diRectoRS’ RepoRt
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Group performance

The table below shows the performance of the Group over the past five years (including the current year) as measured by 
the Group’s underlying profit after tax and also reflected in the movement of the company’s underlying earnings per share 
(EPS) over time.

 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
Year ending 2003* 2004* 2005 2006 2007

Underlying earnings before interest & tax ($’000) 36,156 40,859 32,601 34,934# 31,040#

Underlying basic earnings per share (cents) 18.55 20.58 15.82 17.70# 13.55#

Basic earnings per share (cents) 18.55 19.70 12.33 10.99 (27.37)

* Figures reported based on previous Australian generally acceptable accounting practices.
# Figures reported based on continuing operations.

Employment contracts

Mr J. Hersch is employed under contract. The details of the 
current contracts are provided below.

Mr Joseph Hersch
The current employment contract commenced on 1 July 2005 
and terminates on 30 June 2007. Under the terms of the 
present contract:

–  Mr Hersch may resign by giving six month’s written notice.

–  The group may terminate this employment agreement by 
providing twelve months written notice or provide payment 
in lieu of the notice period (based on the fixed component 
of Mr Hersch’s compensation).

–  The group may terminate the contract at any time without 
notice if serious misconduct has occurred. Where termination 
with cause occurs, Mr Hersch is only entitled to that 
portion of compensation which is fixed, and only up to the 
date of termination.

Mr Hersch has continued in his current capacity of Managing 
Director to the date of this report.

Key management personnel
Other than as specified in this report, none of the key 
management personnel have fixed term employment contracts. 
Consequently, amounts payable on termination may vary from 
a minimum statutory entitlement to a maximum of 12 months 
based on a calculation of total remuneration (which includes 
base salary, superannuation and motor vehicle value or motor 
vehicle allowance (if applicable)). In accordance with the 
terms of the HWI Second Executive Option Plan any options 
not vested at the date of termination will be forfeited, unless 
otherwise determined by the Board.
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Remuneration report (Audited) continued 

Remuneration of key management personnel
Table 1: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2007 (Consolidated)

  Post- Long-    %
  employ- term Termin- Share-  Perfor-
  ment employee ation based  mance
 Short-term employee benefits benefits benefits benefits payment Total related

   Non-   Long  
 Salary Cash monetary  Super- service  
 & fees bonuses benefits Other annuation leave  Options#

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Non-executive directors

J. Schmoll – Chairman 63,666 – – – 63,500 – – – 127,166 –

S. Klein (a) 67,217 – – – – – – – 67,217 –

S. Fisher 81,666 – – – 7,350 – – – 89,016 –

J. McConnell 56,250 – – – 18,688 – – – 74,938 –

Sub-total non-executive  
directors 268,799 – – – 89,538 – – – 358,337 

Executive directors

J. Hersch –  
Managing director 586,456 160,230 54,705 – 66,621 20,620 – 74,539 963,171 24.37

Other key  
management personnel

R. Carr – VP Sales  
(Metro) (b) (e) 186,596 34,373 4,636 30,817 26,415 – 233,704 – 516,541 6.65

V. Cheung – Managing  
director Hong Kong 365,910 77,370 13,403 48,961 34,120 – – – 539,764 14.33

M. Cohen – Group Chief  
financial officer (c) 162,050 10,000 5,000 – 27,637 2,409 – – 207,096 4.83

A. Gelemanovic – Group  
human resources manager 144,835 10,000 15,947 – 13,317 2,733 – 12,422 199,254 11.25

M. Kirkby – General  
manager corporate 
finance & international (d) 158,804 – 8,753 – 15,212 – 497,396 – 680,165 –

B. Liu – CEO Metro/ 
Thebe Inc (USA) 259,743 60,341 9,363 19,971 10,250 – – 12,422 372,090 19.56

M. Melis – General manager  
product development  
& manufacturing 242,859 25,000 19,978 – 23,815 4,587 – 10,859 327,098 10.96

P. Milburn – Group  
risk manager/ 
company secretary 155,019 10,000 16,041 – 13,880 2,840 – – 197,780 5.06

S. Wood – General  
manager Anglo-Canadian  
Housewares (e) 254,788 97,747 6,783 109,138 – – – – 468,456 20.87

Sub-total  
executive KMP 2,517,060 485,061 154,609 208,887 231,267 33,189 731,100 110,242 4,471,415

Totals 2,785,859 485,061 154,609 208,887 320,805 33,189 731,100 110,242 4,829,752

Note
(a)  S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a firm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. The amounts shown 

above are net of GST.
(b) Retired 31 December 2006
(c) Appointed 9 October 2006
(d) Retired 30 September 2006
(e)  S. Wood and R. Carr did not meet the definition of key management personnel for the 2006 financial year but are key management personnel for 2007.
# Value excludes unvested options granted prior to 7 November 2002.
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Table 2: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006 (Consolidated)

  Post- Long-    %
  employ- term Termin- Share-  Perfor-
  ment employee ation based  mance
 Short-term employee benefits benefits benefits benefits payment Total related

   Non-   Long  
 Salary Cash monetary  Super- service  
 & fees bonuses benefits Other annuation leave  Options#

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ %

Non-executive directors

J. Schmoll – Chairman 71,384 – – – 6,425 – – – 77,809 –

S. Klein (a) 54,500 – – – – – – – 54,500 –

S. Fisher 54,256 – – – 4,883 – – – 59,139 –

J. McConnell 60,000 – – – 5,400 – – – 65,400 –

Sub-total non-executive  
directors 240,140 – – – 16,708 – – – 256,848

Executive directors

J. Hersch 564,068 161,087 41,205 – 50,766 9,359 – 65,763 892,248 25.4

B. Wavish (b) 142,817 – – – 7,453 – – – 150,270 –

M. Kirkby (c) 411,112 – 19,889 – 61,667 6,780 – 6,440 505,888 1.3

Other key  
management personnel

V. Cheung – Managing  
director Hong Kong 441,474 82,175 14,916 544 34,818 – – 314 574,241 14.4

M. Delauney – General  
manager sales & new  
business development (d) 231,659 10,000 24,689 – 20,849 – 29,280 – 316,477 3.2

A. Gelemanovic – Group  
human resources manager 126,714 10,000 12,394 – 11,404 2,456 – 3,221 166,189 8.0

J. Kelso – CEO SABCO (e) 305,314 – 4,562 500,000 27,223 6,851 – – 843,950 –

L. Jackson – Group CFO/ 
company secretary (f) 87,706 10,000 23,044 – 7,893 2,855 – 3,430 134,928 14.3

B. Liu – CEO Metro/Thebe  
Inc (USA) 270,658 60,959 8,733 21,088 10,826 – – 3,221 375,485 17.1

M. Melis – General manager  
product development  
& manufacturing 233,027 25,000 20,753 – 20,972 3,928 – 10,745 314,425 11.4

P. Milburn – Group  
risk manager/ 
company secretary 125,520 – 13,767 – 11,297 2,327 – 314 153,225 0.2

Sub-total  
executive KMP 2,940,069 359,221 183,952 521,632 265,168 34,556 29,280 93,448 4,427,326

Totals 3,180,209 359,221 183,952 521,632 281,876 34,556 29,280 93,448 4,684,174

Note
(a)  S. Klein’s fees are paid to Arnold Bloch Leibler, a firm of which he is a partner. Accordingly these fees are subject to GST. The amounts 

shown above are net of GST.
(b)  B. Wavish was executive chairman from 1 July 2005 until 24 November 2005, where he resumed his non-executive chairman role from 

24 November 2005 until his resignation on 12 April 2006.
(c)  M. Kirkby was executive director from 1 July 2005 until his resignation as a director on 24 November 2005, where he assumed a general 

manager role in charge of corporate finance and the international business.
(d) Resigned 17 May 2006
(e)  J. Kelso received a sign-on bonus of $500,000 when he commenced employment. If Mr Kelso terminates his employment during the first 

two years from commencement, this sign on bonus is refundable to the group on a pro-rata basis.
(f) Commenced maternity leave 28 February 2006
# Value excludes unvested options granted prior to 7 November 2002.

17



Remuneration report (Audited) continued

Table 3: Compensation options: Granted and vested during the year (Consolidated)

There were no compensation options that were granted or vested to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2007.

 Granted Terms and Conditions for each grant Vested

   Fair value   
   per option Exercise   
   at grant price per  First Last 
  Grant date ($) option ($) Expiry exercise exercise 
30 June 2006 Number date (Note 31) (Note 31) date date date Number

Directors

J. Hersch 1,000,000 15 Dec 2005 0.17 1.66 15 Dec 2009 15 Dec 2006 15 Dec 2009 –

M. Kirkby 200,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 –

Executives

V. Cheung –       30,000

M. Delauney 60,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 30,000

A. Gelemanovic 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 –

L. Jackson 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 20,000

B. Liu 100,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 –

M. Melis 60,000 7 April 2006 0.24 1.96 7 April 2010 7 April 2007 7 April 2010 –

P. Milburn –       30,000

Total 1,620,000       110,000

Table 4: Options granted as part of remuneration (Consolidated)

There were no options that were granted, exercised or lapsed as part of remuneration to key management personnel during the 
year ended 30 June 2007.

Options granted, exercised or lapsed as part of remuneration to key management personnel during the year ended 30 June 2006 
are disclosed in Table 3 above.

Table 5: Shares issued on exercise of Compensation Options (Consolidated)
There were no shares issued on exercise of compensation options to key management personnel during the year ended 
30 June 2007.

  Paid per share Unpaid
 Shares issued (Note 31) per share

30 June 2006 Number $ $

Executives

L. Jackson 20,000 1.85 –

Total 20,000
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Directors’ meetings

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of 
committees of directors) held during the year and the number 
of meetings attended by each director was as follows:

 Full  Audit Remun- 
 board & risk eration

Number of meetings 12 3 2

J. Schmoll 12(c) 3 2

S. Fisher 12 3(c) 2

J. McConnell 8 2 2(c)

S. Klein 12 3* 2

J. Hersch 12 – –

(c)  Designates the current chairman of the board or committee.
–  Designates that the director was not a member of the applicable 

committee during the year.
*  Attended, but not as a committee member

Committee membership

As at the date of this report, the company had an audit & risk 
committee and a remuneration committee of the board of 
directors. The details of the functions and memberships of 
the committees of the board are presented in the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Indemnification of directors and officers

The directors and officers of the company are indemnified by 
the company against losses or liabilities which they may sustain 
or incur as an officer of the company, in the proper performance 
of their duties.

Likely developments and expected results

Disclosure of information as to likely developments in the 
operations of the consolidated entity and expected results of 
those operations would be prejudicial to the interests of the 
consolidated entity. Accordingly, such information has not been 
included in this report.

Environmental regulations and performance

The consolidated entity is not involved in any activities that 
have a marked influence on the environment within its area 
of operation.

Corporate governance

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate 
behaviour and accountability, the directors of Housewares 
International Limited support the principles of good corporate 
governance. The company’s corporate governance statement 
is contained in the annual report.

Share options

Unissued shares

As at the date of this report, there were 3,288,666 un-issued 
ordinary shares under options (4,806,666 at the reporting 
date). Refer to Note 31 of the financial report for further details 
of the options outstanding. Option holders do not have any 
right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue 
of the company.

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options

During the year, employees and executives have exercised 
options to acquire 578,000 fully paid ordinary shares in 
Housewares International Limited at a weighted average 
exercise price of $1.85.

Auditor’s declaration of independence

Attached is a copy of the auditor’s declaration provided 
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 
to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2007. This auditor’s 
declaration forms part of this directors’ report.

Non-audit services

The following non-audit services were provided by the 
company’s auditor, Ernst & Young Australia. The directors are 
satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and scope of 
each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor 
independence was not compromised.

Ernst & Young Australia received or is due to receive the 
following amounts for the provision of non-audit services:

Tax compliance services $48,000
Audit related services $30,000
Non-audit related services $16,000

Affiliates of Ernst & Young Australia received or are due 
to receive the following amounts for the provision of 
non-audit services:

Tax services $100,000

Significant events after year end

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the 
end of the year, which significantly affected or may affect 
the operations of the consolidated entity.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Joseph Hersch 
Managing Director

Melbourne 
24 August 2007
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The following documents are available on the corporate 
governance section of the company’s website,  
www.housewares.com.au:

• selection and appointment of directors

• criteria for assessing independence

• code of conduct

• continuous disclosure policy

• share trading policy

• shareholder communications policy

• board charter

• audit and risk committee charter

• remuneration committee charter

Role of the board and management

The board guides and monitors the business and affairs of 
HWI on behalf of the shareholders, by whom it is elected, and 
to whom it is accountable. The board has adopted formal 
guidelines for board operation and membership. These 
guidelines outline the roles and responsibilities of the board and 
its members, and establish the relationship between the board 
and management. 

The board is responsible for approving the strategic direction 
of the company, establishing goals for management and 
monitoring the achievement of those goals, and establishing 
a sound system of risk oversight and management. The board 
will regularly review its performance and the performance 
of its committees.

Board structure

Board composition

The company’s constitution states that there must be a 
minimum of three directors and contains detailed provisions 
concerning the tenure of directors. Subsequent to the 
Managing Director, Mr Hersh’s retirement on 30 September 
2007 the board comprised four non-executive directors.

The directors’ report, on page 10, outlines the relevant skills, 
experience, and expertise held by each director in office at the 
date of the financial report. 

Preamble

The format of the corporate governance statement is intended 
to reflect the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate 
Governance Council’s (“council”) “Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations”. 

The council explains that the best practice recommendations 
are not prescriptive, but provide a framework to help 
companies provide meaningful and comparable disclosure 
about their governance practices. It also explains that these 
best practice recommendations are aspirational statements, 
which may not represent best practice in all situations. 

The council’s principles are as follows:

Principle 1.  Lay solid foundations for management and 
oversight

Principle 2. Structure the board to add value

Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

Principle 4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Principle 5. Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6. Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8. Encourage enhanced performance

Principle 9. Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Principle 10. Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders

The company’s corporate governance practices throughout the 
year ended 30 June 2007 were compliant with the council’s 
best practice recommendations, except for those differences 
disclosed and explained in this statement.

coRpoRate GoVeRnance StateMent

  Term in  Non-   Seeking election or 
Director Appointed office executive Independent Last elected  re-election in 2007

John Schmoll (Chairman) 2004 3 years Yes  Yes 2005 Yes 

Joseph Hersch* 2001 6 years No  No 2004 No

Steven Fisher 2004 3 years Yes  No 2005 Yes

Steven Klein 2003 4 years Yes  No 2006 No

John McConnell 1999 8 years Yes  Yes 2006 No

* retired 30 September 2007
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Director independence

In considering whether a director is independent, the board 
refers to the company’s “Criteria for assessing independence of 
directors”, which are consistent with the council’s best practice 
recommendations. Independent directors of HWI are those that 
are not involved in the day-to-day management of the company 
and are free from any real or reasonably perceived business or 
other relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise 
of their unfettered and independent judgement. 

In accordance with the definition of independence above, and 
the materiality thresholds outlined in the company’s ‘Criteria 
for assessing independence of directors’, it is the board’s view 
that Mr John McConnell and Mr John Schmoll are independent 
directors. The following directors are not independent directors:

•  Mr Steven Klein (non-executive director) is a partner of Arnold 
Bloch Leibler, which is a professional adviser to the company; 
and

•  Mr Steven Fisher (non-executive director) is employed by an 
entity associated with a substantial shareholder of HWI.

Regardless of whether directors are defined as independent, 
all directors are expected to bring independent views and 
judgement to board deliberations.

Majority independence

Of the four directors, two are considered not to be independent 
for the reasons noted above.

As such, the majority of the board is not considered to be 
independent.

However, the board supports the previous comments made 
by the ASX Implementation Review Group (“IRG”) that: 
“Other board structures which do not include a majority of 
independent directors may also provide an acceptable level 
of objectivity. The IRG does not believe that an individual 
director will necessarily be unwilling or unable to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests or will necessarily lack objectivity or 
independence of mind, simply because they are not deemed 
to be ‘independent’. Safeguarding shareholder interests is a 
fundamental duty of all directors.”

Independent chairman

Mr John Schmoll was non-executive chairman through out the 
year. Mr Schmoll is considered to be an independent chairman. 

Material personal interest requirement

The Corporations Act provides that unless agreed by the 
board, where any director has a material personal interest in a 
matter, the director will not be permitted to be present during 
discussions, or to vote on the matter. 

Access to independent advice

There are procedures in place to enable directors, in 
connection with their duties and responsibilities as directors, 
to seek independent professional advice at the expense 
of the company. 

Nomination committee

During the year ended 30 June 2007, the company did not 
have a separately established nomination committee. All duties 
and responsibilities typically delegated to such a committee are 
the responsibility of the full board. Although the council’s best 
practice recommendation 2.4 recommends that a nomination 
committee can be a more efficient mechanism for the detailed 
examination of selection and appointment practices, particularly 
in larger companies, the board does not believe at this time that 
any marked efficiencies or enhancements would be achieved 
by the creation of a separate nomination committee.

Code of conduct

The board has formally adopted a code of conduct (“code”) 
for all employees (including directors). The code aims at 
maintaining the highest ethical standards, corporate behaviour, 
and accountability across the group. 

These obligations are also consistent with the duties imposed 
on directors by the Corporations Act. In addition, directors are 
obliged to be independent in judgement and to ensure that all 
reasonable steps are taken to be satisfied as to the soundness 
of board decisions. 

Audit and risk committee

The board has an audit and risk committee (A&RC), which 
operates under a charter approved by the board. It is the 
board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control 
framework exists within the consolidated entity. This includes 
internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and 
efficiency of significant business processes, the safeguarding 
of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and 
the reliability of financial information. The board has delegated 
the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of a 
framework of internal control and ethical standards of HWI to 
the A&RC. 
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Audit and risk committee continued

Among its responsibilities, the A&RC:

• reviews all accounts of the group to be publicly released; 

•  recommends to the board the appointment and remuneration 
of the external auditors;

• reviews the scope of external audits; 

•  assesses the performance and independence of the external 
auditors, including procedures governing partner rotation;

• reviews corporate governance practices; and 

•  monitors and assesses the systems for internal compliance 
and control, legal compliance, and risk management.

Composition of committee

The current members of the A&RC are:

• Mr Steven Fisher (Chairman)

• Mr John Schmoll

• Mr John McConnell

The directors’ report, on page 19, outlines the number of A&RC 
meetings held during the year and the names of the attendees 
at those meetings. It also outlines the qualifications of A&RC 
members on page 10.

The CEO and the fourth non-executive director; company 
secretary; chief financial officer; the external auditors; and any 
other persons considered appropriate attend meetings of the 
A&RC by invitation. The committee also meets from time to 
time with the external auditors independent of management. 

In accordance with the council’s best practice recommendation 
4.3, the A&RC comprises:

• only non-executive directors;

• a majority of independent directors; and

• at least three members.

Although the chairman of the A&RC is not an independent 
director, the board considers that Mr Fisher continues to be the 
most suitable director to be chairman of the A&RC given that 
it is not appropriate for Mr Schmoll to be both chairman of the 
board and of the A&RC, nor is it appropriate for Mr McConnell 
to be both chairman of the remuneration committee and of 
the A&RC.

It remains the board’s intention to appoint an additional non-
executive independent director, once a suitable candidate 
can be identified, and it is possible that this person will then 
be appointed chairman of the A&RC instead of Mr Fisher. 
The Board is satisfied that Mr Fisher exercises his duties as 
chairman impartially and properly.

Risk identification and management

The company is committed to the identification, monitoring, 
and management of risks associated with its business activities, 
and has embedded in its management and reporting systems 
a number of risk management controls. These include: 

• guidelines and limits for approval of capital expenditure; 

•  policies and procedures for the management of financial 
risk and treasury operations including exposures to foreign 
currencies and movements in interest rates; and

•  annual budgeting and monthly reporting systems for all 
businesses which enable the monitoring of progress against 
performance targets and the evaluation of trends.

Management is ultimately responsible to the board for the 
system of internal control and risk management. The A&RC 
assists the board in monitoring this function. 

Performance

The performance of key executives is reviewed against specific 
and measurable qualitative and quantitative performance 
criteria, and includes:

• financial measures of the company’s performance;

• development and achievement of strategic objectives;

• development of management and staff; 

•  compliance with legislative and company policy requirements; 
and

• achievement of key performance indicators.

Currently, whilst there is no formal review process of the 
performance of the board, it is an item that will be reviewed in 
the next reporting period. In the interim the chairman informally 
assesses the performance of individual directors and their 
contribution to board affairs.

coRpoRate GoVeRnance StateMent
continued
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Remuneration

Remuneration committee

The board has a remuneration committee, comprising the 
following directors:

• Mr John McConnell (Chairman)

• Mr Steven Fisher

• Mr Steven Klein 

• Mr John Schmoll 

In accordance with the council’s best practice recommendation 
9.2, the remuneration committee comprises:

• an independent chairman; and

• at least three members.

Of the four committee members, Mr Steven Fisher and 
Mr Steven Klein are considered not to be independent for 
the reasons noted previously.

As such, the majority of the remuneration committee is not 
considered to be independent as at the date of this report. 

The board has elected to maintain the committee with two 
independent and two non-independent non-executive directors 
as the breadth of experience provided by each director is highly 
valued. The board is confident that Mr Fisher and Mr Klein are 
able to exercise their duties as committee members impartially 
and properly. 

For details on the number of meetings of the remuneration 
committee held during the year and the attendees at those 
meetings, refer to the directors’ report on page 19.

Remuneration disclosure

For a full discussion of the company’s remuneration philosophy 
and framework, and the remunerations received by directors 
and executives in the current period, please refer to the 
remuneration report contained in the directors’ report on pages 
12 to 18.
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incoMe StateMent
FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Continuing operations

Revenue 2(a) 371,279 349,850 4,322 15,745

Cost of sales 2(b) (274,110) (260,569) – –

Gross profit  97,169 89,281 4,322 15,745

Other income 2(c) 1,851 4,662 14 94

Share of the profits of jointly controlled entities accounted  
for using equity method 12(b) 2,205 1,113 – –

Employee benefits expenses 2(f) (42,150) (38,657) (209) (114)

Premises, lease & utilities expenses  (11,095) (9,040) – –

Advertising expenses  (11,287) (6,747) – –

Depreciation & amortisation expenses 2(d) (2,848) (2,398) – –

Other expenses  (2,805) (3,280) – –

Underlying profit before tax, finance costs  
and significant items  31,040 34,934 4,127 15,725

Finance costs 2(g) (5,089) (4,397) (3) –

Significant items:

– Bad debt written off  (1,344) – – –

– Legal fees & associated costs  (1,775) – – –

– Expenses associated with USA relocation  (720) – – –

– Strategic advisory costs  (600) – – –

Profit from continuing operations before income tax  21,512 30,537 4,124 15,725

Income tax expense 3 (4,664) (9,017) (3) (28)

Profit from continuing operations after income tax  16,848 21,520 4,121 15,697

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations after income tax 4(c) (50,873) (8,160) – –

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to  
members of Housewares International Limited  (34,025) 13,360 4,121 15,697

 
  Cents Cents

Earnings per share from profit from continuing  
operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders  
of the parent entity:

– basic earnings per share 5 13.55 17.70

– diluted earnings per share 5 13.09 17.29

Earnings per share from profit/(loss) attributable to  
the ordinary equity holders of the parent entity:

– basic earning per share 5 (27.37) 10.99

– diluted earnings per share 5 (26.44) 10.74

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Income Statement.
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Balance Sheet
aS at 30 june 2007

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 22,657 13,897 1 2

Trade and other receivables 8 71,688 68,452 57,983 55,091

Inventories 9 80,494 86,468 – –

Other financial assets 10 277 1,442 – –

Current tax assets 3 5,413 4,221 3,535 3,942

Other assets 11 1,561 3,693 – –

  182,090 178,173 61,519 59,035

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 4(b) 562 – – –

Total current assets  182,652 178,173 61,519 59,035

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 1,000 – – –

Investments in jointly controlled entities 12 95 8,760 – –

Investments in controlled entities 13 – – 69,429 69,429

Plant and equipment 14 9,507 10,534 – –

Deferred tax assets 3 19,531 8,579 – –

Intangible assets – other 15 38,452 50,061 – –

Intangible assets – goodwill 16 24,558 32,799 – –

Total non-current assets  93,143 110,733 69,429 69,429

Total assets  275,795 288,906 130,948 128,464

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 48,555 41,840 – –

Borrowings 19 59,511 11,062 – –

Current tax liabilities 3 2,087 1,731 – –

Provisions 20 3,852 3,639 – –

Other financial liabilities 21 3,290 1,250 – –

Total current liabilities  117,295 59,522 – –

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 – 392 – –

Borrowings 19 35,000 66,652 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 3 3,538 3,659 – –

Provisions 20 2,847 936 – –

Total non-current liabilities  41,385 71,639 – –

Total liabilities  158,680 131,161 – –

Net assets  117,115 157,745 130,948 128,464

Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued capital 22 130,713 128,237 130,713 128,237

Reserves 23 (6,440) (1,681) 529 320

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 24 (7,158) 31,189 (294) (93)

Total equity  117,115 157,745 130,948 128,464

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Balance Sheet.
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StateMent oF chanGeS in equity
FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total equity at the beginning of the year  157,745 154,262 128,464 122,733

Adjustment to opening retained profits in relation  
to change in accounting policy 1(k)(ii) – 234 – –

Restated total equity at the beginning of the year  157,745 154,496 128,464 122,733

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 23(a) (4,692) 565 – –

Cash flow hedges:

– Losses taken to equity  (8,665) (1,665) – –

– Transferred to income statement for the year 2(c)(ii) 147 219 – –

– Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items  6,103 660 – –

Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred  
directly from equity 3 2,139 76 – –

Net expense recognised directly in equity  (4,968) (145) – –

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributed to members  
of Housewares International Limited  (34,025) 13,360 4,121 15,697

Total recognised income/(expense) for the year  (38,993) 13,215 4,121 15,697

Dividends paid 6(a) (4,322) (15,745) (4,322) (15,745)

Issue of ordinary shares through dividend reinvestment plan 6(a) 1,607 5,134 1,607 5,134

Issue of ordinary shares through exercise of options 22(a) 1,069 74 1,069 74

Movement in non-recourse senior executive option plan loans  (200) 457 (200) 457

Cost of share-based payments 23(b) 209 114 209 114

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity  
as equity holders   (40,630) 3,249 2,484 5,731

Total equity at the end of the year  117,115 157,745 130,948 128,464

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Changes in Equity.
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caSh FloW StateMent
FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  491,340 449,416 – –

Payments to suppliers and employees  (467,419) (405,516) – –

Dividends received  – – 4,322 15,745

Finance costs paid  (6,390) (7 245) (3) –

Income tax paid  (5,175) (6,625) – (37)

Finance income received  435 400 14 94

Net cash flows from operating activities 7(b) 12,791 30,430 4,333 15,802

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment 14(i) (4,701) (2,898) – –

Proceeds from sale of business 4(d) 8,137 – – –

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  323 161 – –

Purchase of intangible assets  (4,240) (3,936) – –

Acquisition of subsidiary 28(a) (20,825) – – –

Purchase of business 28(b) (784) (3,272) – –

Repayment of loan from jointly controlled entity  1,087 – – –

Distribution received from jointly controlled entity 12(d) 2,174 – – –

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (18,829) (9,945) – –

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings  143,442 110,666 – –

Repayment of borrowings  (132,520) (110,972) – –

Repayment of borrowings from controlled entities  – – (1,619) (5,189)

Proceeds from issues of shares  869 532 – –

Equity dividends paid 6(a) (2,715) (10,611) (2,715) (10,611)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  9,076 (10,385) (4,334) (15,800)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,038 10,100 (1) 2

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  13,716 3,984 2 –

Net foreign exchange difference  (2,245) (368) – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7(a) 14,509 13,716 1 2

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Cash Flow Statement.
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noteS to the Financial StateMentS
FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Housewares International Limited is a company limited by 
shares incorporated in Australia. Housewares International 
Limited shares are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange.

This annual report covers both Housewares International 
Limited (Parent or company) as an individual entity and 
the consolidated entity (Group) comprising Housewares 
International Limited and its subsidiaries.

A description of the Group’s operations and of its principal 
activities is included in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on page 11. The directors’ report is not 
part of the financial report.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which 
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards.

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost 
basis, except for derivative financial instruments and assets 
of disposal group classified as held for sale, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollar ($’000) 
unless otherwise stated under the option available to the 
Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company 
is an entity to which the class order applies.

(b) Statements of compliance

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 
Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
The financial report also complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Except for the amendments to AASB101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, which the Group has early adopted, 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have 
not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period 
ending 30 June 2007. These are outlined in the following table.

The following Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
are not applicable to the Group and therefore have no impact:

–  AASB 2007-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, 
AASB 117, AASB 118, AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, 
AASB 131 & AASB 139]

–  AASB 2007-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standard – Inventories Held for Distribution by Not-for-Profit 
Entities [AASB 102].

The following interpretations are not applicable to the Group 
and therefore have no impact:

–  UIG 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

–  AASB Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements

–  IFRIC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

–  IFRIC Interpretation 14 IAS 19 – The Asset Ceiling: Availability 
of Economic Benefits and Minimum Funding Requirements.
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Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 

standard*
Impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group*

AASB  
2005-10

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards [AASB 
132, AASB 101, AASB 114, 
AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 
139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 
1023 & AASB 1038]

Amendments arise from the release 
in August 2005 of AASB 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures.

1/01/07 AASB 7 is a disclosure 
standard so will have no 
direct impact on the amounts 
included in the Group’s 
financial statements. However, 
the amendments will result 
in changes to the financial 
instrument disclosures 
included in the Group’s 
financial report.

1/07/07

AASB 
2007-1

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB Interpretation 11 
[AASB 2]

Amending standard issued as a 
consequence of AASB Interpretation 
11 AASB 2 – Group and Treasury 
Share Transactions.

1/01/07 This is consistent with 
the Group’s existing 
accounting policies for 
share-based payments, so 
the amendments are not 
expected to have any impact 
on the Group’s financial report.

1/07/07

AASB 
2007-3

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 8 [AASB 5, AASB 
6, AASB 102, AASB 107, 
AASB 119, AASB 127, AASB 
134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 
& AASB 1038]

Amending standard issued as a 
consequence of AASB 8 Operating 
Segments.

1/01/09 AASB 8 is a disclosure 
standard so will have no 
direct impact on the amounts 
included in the Group’s 
financial statements. However 
the amendments may have 
an impact on the Group’s 
segment disclosures as 
segment information included 
in internal management 
reports is more detailed 
than is currently reported 
under AASB 114 Segment 
Reporting.

1/07/09

AASB 
2007-4

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from ED 151 and Other 
Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 3, 
4, 5, 6, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 
112, 114, 116, 117, 118, 119, 
120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 
131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 
138, 139, 141, 1023 & 1038]

Amendments arising as a result of 
the AASB decision that, in principle, 
all options that currently exist under 
IFRSs should be included in the 
Australian equivalents to IFRSs and 
additional Australian disclosures 
should be eliminated, other than 
those now considered particularly 
relevant in the Australian reporting 
environment.

1/07/07 These amendments are 
expected to reduce the extent 
of some disclosures in the 
Group’s financial report.

1/07/07

AASB 
2007-6

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 123 [AASB 1, 
AASB 101, AASB 107, 
AASB 111, AASB 116 & 
AASB 138 and Interpretations 
1 & 12]

Amending standard issued as a 
consequence of revisions to AASB 
123 Borrowing Costs.

1/01/09 The amendments to AASB 
123 require that all borrowing 
costs associated with a 
qualifying asset be capitalised. 
The Group has no borrowing 
costs associated with 
qualifying assets and as such 
the amendments are not 
expected to have any impact 
on the Group’s financial report.

1/07/09

AASB 
2007-7

Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards 
[AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, 
AASB 5, AASB 107 & 
AASB 128]

Amending standards for wording 
errors, discrepancies and 
inconsistencies.

1/07/07 The amendments are 
minor and do not affect the 
recognition, measurement 
or disclosure requirements 
of the standards. Therefore 
the amendments are not 
expected to have any impact 
on the Group’s financial report.

1/07/07

* designates the beginning of the annual reporting period.
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Reference Title Summary

Application 
date of 

standard*
Impact on Group 
financial report

Application 
date for 
Group*

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures

New standard replacing disclosure 
requirements of AASB 130 
Disclosures in the Financial 
Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions and AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure 
and Presentation.

1/01/07 Refer to AASB 2005-10 
above.

1/07/07

AASB 8 Operating Segments New standard replacing AASB 114 
Segment Reporting, which adopts a 
management approach to segment 
reporting.

1/01/09 Refer to AASB 2007-3 above. 1/07/09

AASB 123 
(amended)

Borrowing Costs The amendments to AASB 123 
require that all borrowing costs 
associated with a qualifying asset 
must be capitalised.

1/01/09 Refer to AASB 2007-6 above. 1/01/09

AASB 
Interpretation 
10

Interim Financial Reporting 
and Impairment

Addresses an inconsistency 
between AASB 134 Interim Financial 
Reporting and the impairment 
requirements relating to goodwill 
in AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 
and equity instruments classified 
as available for sale in AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement.

1/11/06 The prohibitions on reversing 
impairment losses in AASB 
136 and AASB 139, which 
are to take precedence over 
the more general statement in 
AASB 134, are not expected 
to have any impact on the 
Group’s financial report.

1/01/07

AASB 
Interpretation 
11

AASB 2 – Group and Treasury 
Share Transactions

Addresses whether certain types of 
share-based payment transactions 
with employees (or other suppliers 
of good and services) should be 
accounted for as equity-settled or 
as cash-settled transactions under 
AASB 2 Share-based Payment. It 
also specifies the accounting in a 
subsidiary’s financial statements for 
share-based payment arrangements 
involving equity instruments of the 
parent.

1/03/07 Refer to AASB 2007-1 above. 1/07/07

* designates the beginning of the annual reporting period.

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies continued

noteS to the Financial StateMentS continued

FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007
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(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of Housewares International Limited and its 
subsidiaries as at 30 June each year.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has 
the power to govern the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Group controls another entity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-
company balances and transactions, income and expenses 
and profit and loss resulting from intra-group transactions have 
been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the 
purchase method of accounting. The purchase method 
of accounting involves allocating the cost of the business 
combination to the fair value of assets acquired and the 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date 
of acquisition.

(d) Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often 
determined based on estimates and assumptions of future 
events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period are:

Impairment of goodwill & intangibles with indefinite 
useful lives
The Group determines whether goodwill and intangibles with 
indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an annual basis. 
This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives are allocated. The assumptions 
used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives 
are discussed in Note 17.

Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions 
with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair 
value is determined by either internally or by an external 
valuer using either the Black-Scholes or binomial option 
pricing model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 31.

Onerous lease and make good provision
The onerous lease contracts and make good provision 
represents the present value of the future lease payments that 
the consolidated entity is presently obligated to make in respect 
of onerous lease contracts under non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements, less revenue expected to be earned on 
the lease including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where 
applicable. It also includes the anticipated costs of future 
restoration of leased premises. The calculation of this provision 
requires various assumptions associated with the sub-letting 
of the premises and restoration cost estimates. The related 
carrying amounts are disclosed in Note 20.

(e) Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account 
for all business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly 
attributable to the combination.

Except for non-current assets or disposal groups classified as 
held for sale (which are measured at fair value less costs to 
sell), all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of 
the business combination over the net fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised 
as goodwill.

(f) Segment reporting

A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of the 
entity that is engaged in providing products or services within 
a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and 
returns that are different than those of segments operating 
in other economic environments. A business segment is a 
distinguishable component of the entity that is engaged in 
providing products or services that are subject to risks and 
returns that are different to those of other business segments.

(g) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Both the functional and presentation currency of Housewares 
International Limited and its Australian subsidiaries are 
Australian dollars (AUD or A$). Each entity in the Group 
determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using 
that functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling 
at the balance sheet date.

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are 
taken to the income statement.
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(g) Foreign currency translation continued

(ii) Transactions and balances continued
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is either:

–  USD: United States dollars (Thebe International, Inc.  
Metro/Thebe, Inc. and HWI China Holdings Limited);

–  HKD: Hong Kong dollars (HWI International Ltd, Gannet 
Holdings Limited, and Breville Export Limited);

–  CAD: Canadian dollars (HWI Canada, Inc., Holdings HWI 
Canada, Inc., and Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.); and

–  NZD: New Zealand dollars (Breville NZ Limited).

As at the reporting date the assets and liabilities of these foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of 
Housewares International Limited. They are translated at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the 
income statements are translated at the weighted average 
exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on the retranslation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are taken directly 
to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign 
entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity 
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in 
the income statement.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash 
at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities 
on the balance sheet.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 - 60 day terms, 
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Bad debts are written off when incurred. An allowance for 
uncollectible receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount 
of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.

(j) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

The cost of inventories shall comprise all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. This includes 
the transfer from equity of gains and losses on qualifying cash 
flow hedges of purchases of finished goods.

Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on a 
weighted average cost basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

(k) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward 
currency contracts, foreign exchange option contracts, and 
interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with foreign 
currency and interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on 
which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to fair value. Certain derivative instruments are 
also held for trading for the purpose of making short term 
gains. These derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting 
and changes in fair value are recognised immediately in the 
income statement in other revenue and expenses. Derivatives 
are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
derivatives, except for those that qualify for hedge accounting, 
are taken directly to the income statement for the year.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts and foreign 
exchange option contracts are calculated by reference to 
current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity profiles, and where applicable exercise prices. The fair 
value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference 
to market values for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are 
classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge exposure to 
variability in cash flows that is attributable either to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a 
forecast transaction.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally 
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging 
instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the 
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging 
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes 
in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving 
offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an 
ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly 
effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which 
they were designated.

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
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Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are 
accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group’s exposure to 
variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly 
probable forecast transaction and that could affect profit or 
loss. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in income statement.

Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the income 
statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, 
such as when hedged income or expenses are recognised 
or when a forecast purchase occurs. When the hedged item 
is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts 
taken to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount 
of the non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to 
the income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is 
sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, 
or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously 
recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast 
transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected 
to occur, the amount is taken to the income statement.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment 
is accounted for as a cash flow hedge.

Change in accounting policy
(i)  Reconciliation of financial instruments as if AASB 132 

and AASB 139 were applied at 1 July 2005
In the prior year the Group adopted AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The impact on the balance sheet in the comparative period is 
set out below as an adjustment to the opening balance sheet 
at 1 July 2005. The transitional provisions will not have any 
effect in future reporting periods.

(ii)  Application of AASB 132 and AASB 139 prospectively 
from 1 July 2005

 Consolidated

 30 Jun  Effect of 1 Jul 
 2005 adoption 2005
 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables

–  Hedging foreign  
currency receivable 1,417 (1,417) –

–  Hedging foreign  
currency put option receivable 225 (225) –

Derivatives asset – 572 572

Trade and other payables

–  Hedging foreign  
currency payable (1,417) 1,417 –

–  Hedging foreign  
currency put option payable (81) 81 –

Derivatives liabilities – (194) (194)

Impact on net assets  234

Retained earnings 33,340 234 33,574

Impact on equity  234

(l) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for 
sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held 
for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction. They 
are not depreciated or amortised. For an asset or disposal 
group to be classified as held for sale, it must be available for 
immediate sale in its present condition and its sale must be 
highly probable.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent 
write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less 
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases 
in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), 
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the 
date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) 
is recognised at the date of derecognition.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that 
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to 
dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results 
of discontinued operations are presented separately on the face 
of the income statement.
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(m) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of between 
2 and 5 years.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
year-end.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no further future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset at the time of 
derecognition) is included in the income statement in the year 
in which they arise.

(n) Intangible assets – goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially 
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 
a business combination shall, from the acquisition date, be 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or 
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those 
units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which 
the goodwill is so allocated:

–  represents the lowest level within the Group at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes; and

–  is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s 
primary or secondary segment reporting format, determined 
in accordance with AASB 114 Segment Reporting.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. When 
the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is less than 
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. When 
goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and an operation 
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this manner is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and 
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not 
subsequently reversed.

(o) Intangible assets – other

Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business 
combination are initially measured at cost. The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally 
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development 
costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against 
profits in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful 
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication 
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each year-end. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period 
or method, as appropriate, which is a change in accounting 
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with 
finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating 
unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life 
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed each 
reporting period to determine whether indefinite life assessment 
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful 
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for as a 
change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for 
on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset 
arising from development expenditure on an internal project is 
recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical 
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability 
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the 
development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, 
the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised 
over the period of expected benefits from the related project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from 
development expenditure is tested for impairment annually 
when the asset is not yet available for use, or more 
frequently when an indication of impairment arises during 
the reporting period.
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A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible 
assets is as follows:

Brand names

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Acquired

Useful lives Indefinite

Amortisation 
method used

No amortisation

Impairment test Annually and more frequently when 
an indication of impairment exists

Computer software

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Acquired

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation 
method used

Amortised over the useful life, 
not exceeding 3 years, on a 
straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently 
when an indication of impairment 
exists. The amortisation method is 
reviewed at each year-end.

Development costs

Internally generated 
or Acquired

Internally generated

Useful lives Finite

Amortisation 
method used

Amortised over the period 
of expected future sales, not 
exceeding 3 years, from the related 
project on a straight-line basis.

Impairment test Annually and more frequently 
when an indication of impairment 
exists. The amortisation method is 
reviewed at each year-end.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognised in the income statement when the asset 
is derecognised.

(p) Impairment of non-financial assets other 
than goodwill

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment; 
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups 
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered impairment are tested for possible 
reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.

(q) Interest in jointly controlled entities

The Group’s investment in its jointly controlled entities is 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial report.

Under the equity method, the investment in the jointly controlled 
entities is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost 
plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net 
assets of the jointly controlled entities. Goodwill relating to 
jointly controlled entities is included in the carrying amount of 
the investment and is not amortised. After application of the 
equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary 
to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to 
the Group’s net investment in its jointly controlled entities. 
The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share 
of the results of operations of the jointly controlled entities.

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the jointly 
controlled entities’ equity, the Group recognised its share of any 
changes and discloses this in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

The reporting dates of the jointly controlled entities and 
the Group are identical and the jointly controlled entities’ 
accounting policies conform to those used by the Group 
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

(r) Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are classified as 
either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-
for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets 
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, 
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The Group 
determines the classification of its financial assets after initial 
recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates 
this designation at each year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group 
commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts 
that require delivery of the assets within the period established 
generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are included 
in the category ‘financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they 
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or 
losses on investments held for trading are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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(r) Investments and other financial assets continued

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity 
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined 
period are not included in this classification. Investments 
that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is 
computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal 
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the 
initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. This 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process.

(iii) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Available-for-sale investments
Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified as any of the three preceding categories. After initial 
recognition available-for sale investments are measured at 
fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the investment is derecognised or 
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity 
is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in 
organised financial markets is determined by reference 
to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on 
the balance sheet date. For investments with no active 
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions; reference to the current market value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow 
analysis and option pricing models.

(s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. 
They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the year that are unpaid and arise 
when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments 
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 
of recognition.

Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in trade and other payables in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick 
leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured 
at the rates paid or payable.

(t) Share-based payment transactions

(i) Equity settled transactions
The Group provides benefits to employees (including key 
management personnel) in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or 
rights over shares (equity-settled transactions).

There are currently two senior executive option plans (SEOP), 
which provides benefits to directors and senior executives. 
Refer to Note 31 for details.

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees 
(for awards granted after 7 November 2002 that were unvested 
at 1 January 2005) is measured by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. 
The fair value has been determined by an external valuer or 
internal valuation model using a Black Scholes or binomial 
model, further details of which are given in Note 31.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken 
of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 
to the price of the shares of Housewares International Limited 
(market conditions), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled 
(the vesting period), ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative 
charge to the income statement is the product of (i) the grant 
date fair value of the award; (ii) the current best estimate of 
the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such 
factors as the likelihood of employee turnover during the vesting 
period and the likelihood of non-market performance conditions 
being met; and (iii) the expired portion of the vesting period.

The charge to the income statement for the period is the 
cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts 
already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding 
credit to equity.

Equity-settled awards granted by Housewares International 
Limited to employees of subsidiaries are recognised in 
the parent’s separate financial statements as an additional 
investment in the subsidiary with a corresponding credit to 
equity. These amounts are eliminated on consolidation. As a 
result, the expense recognised by Housewares International 
Limited in relation to equity-settled awards only represents the 
expense associated with grants to employees of the parent. 
The expense recognised by the Group is the total expense 
associated with all such awards.
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Until an award has vested, any amounts recorded are 
contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer awards vest 
than were originally anticipated to do so. Any award subject to 
a market condition is considered to vest irrespective of whether 
or not that market condition is fulfilled, provided that all other 
conditions are satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a 
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share 
based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had 
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, 
if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the 
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share (see Note 5).

(u) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the income statement 
net of any reimbursement.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a 
current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. 
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts
An onerous contract is considered to exist when the Group 
has a contact under which the unavoidable cost of meeting the 
contractual obligations exceed the economic benefits estimated 
to be received. Present obligations arising under onerous 
contracts are recognised as a provision to the extent that the 
present obligation exceeds the economic benefit estimated to 
be received.

Restructuring
Provision for restructurings are recognised when the Group has 
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out 
the restructuring by:

–  starting to implement the plan; or

–  announcing its main features to those affected by it.

Warranties and faulty goods
Provision for warranty and faulty goods are recognised at 
the date of sale of the relevant products, at the Group’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s liability.

Employee leave benefits – long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised as a provision 
and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given 
to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future 
payments are discounted using appropriate market yields at the 
reporting date to estimate the future cash outflows.

(v) Borrowings

All borrowings, including bills of exchange, are initially 
recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less 
directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, borrowings, including bills of exchange, 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when 
the liabilities are derecognised.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(w) Derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:

–  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

–  the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the 
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; or

–  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration 
received that the Group could be required to repay.
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(w) Derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities continued

(ii) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(x) Contributed equity

(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(ii) Reserved shares
The Group’s own equity instruments, which are reacquired 
for later use in employee share-based payment arrangements 
(reserved shares), are deducted from equity. No gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

(y) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and can 
be measured reliably. Risks and rewards are considered passed 
to the buyer at the earlier of delivery of the goods or the transfer 
of legal title to the customer. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable net of any 
trade discounts and volume rebates allowed.

Finance revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective 
interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over 
the relevant period using the effective interest, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the Group’ right to receive the 
payment is established.

(z) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(aa) Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

(i) Group as a lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Any lease incentives are recognised in the income statement as 
an integral part of the total lease expense.

(ab) Income tax and other taxes

(i) Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amounts expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except:

–  when the deferred income tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

–  when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries or interests in jointly controlled 
entities, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

–  when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting nor taxable profit or loss; or

–  when the deductible temporary difference associated with 
investments in subsidiaries or interests in jointly controlled 
entities, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised.

Note 1. Summary of significant accounting 
policies continued
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The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at 
each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

Income taxes in relation to items recognised directly in equity 
are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 
only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

(iii) Tax consolidation legislation
Housewares International Limited and its wholly-owned 
Australian resident controlled entities have implemented 
the tax consolidated legislation as of 1 July 2002.

The head entity, Housewares International Limited and the 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue 
to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. 
These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax 
consolidated group continues to be a stand alone tax payer 
in its own right.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements 
with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group. 
Details of the tax funding agreement are disclosed in Note 3.

(iv) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST) or value added tax 
(VAT) except:

–  where the GST/VAT incurred on the purchase of goods 
and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 
in which case the GST/VAT is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 
item as applicable; and

–  receivables and payables, which are stated with the 
applicable amount of GST/VAT included.

The net amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross 
basis and the GST/VAT component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST/VAT recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority.

(ac) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any 
costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit or loss 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

–  cost of servicing equity (other than dividends);

–  the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised 
as expenses; and

–  other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses 
during the period that would result form the dilution of 
potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenue and expenses

(a) Revenue

Sale of goods  371,279 349,850 – –

Dividends – Subsidiaries  – – 4,322 15,745

  371,279 349,850 4,322 15,745

(b) Cost of sales

Costs of inventories recognised as an expense (includes write-down  
of inventory to net realisable value (Note 9))  237,728 224,275 – –

Costs of delivering goods to customers  15,129 16,051 – –

Rebates paid/payable to customers  13,896 12,857 – –

Warranty provision  6,220 6,826 – –

Amortisation – development costs (d),(h) 1,137 560 – –

  274,110 260,569 – –

(c) Other income

Finance revenue (i) 337 162 14 94

Net foreign exchange gains (ii) 1,243 3,973 – –

Other income  271 527 – –

  1,851 4,662 14 94

(i) Breakdown of finance revenue

Bank interest receivable  337 162 14 94

Total finance revenue  337 162 14 94

(ii) Included in net foreign exchange gains

Amounts transferred to the income statement from  
the cash flow hedge reserve  (147) (219) – –

(d) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation – plant & equipment  2,624 2,289 – –

Amortisation – capitalised software  224 109 – –

  2,848 2,398 – –

Included in cost of sales:

Amortisation – development costs (b) 1,137 560 – –

Total depreciation and amortisation  3,985 2,958 – –

(e) Lease payments and other expenses included in  
income statement

Included in premises, lease & utilities expense:

– Minimum lease payments – operating lease  7,523 5,909 – –

Included in other expenses:

– Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment  196 30 – –

– Bad and doubtful debts  805 125 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 2. Revenue and expenses continued

(f) Employee benefits expense

Wages & salaries and leave benefits  40,302 36,995 – –

Defined contribution plan expense  1,639 1,548 – –

Share-based payments expense  209 114 209 114

  42,150 38,657 209 114

(g) Finance costs

Finance costs paid or payable on borrowings and bank overdrafts:

– interest  4,160 3,636 3 –

– other borrowing costs  929 761 – –

Total finance costs  5,089 4,397 3 –

(h) Research and development costs

Amortisation of previously capitalised development costs  
included in cost of sales (b) 1,137 560 – –

Research and development costs charged  
directly to the income statement  4,445 3,563 – –

  5,582 4,123 – –

Note 3. Income tax

The major components of income tax expense/(income) are:

Income Statement

Current income tax

Current income tax charge  4,878 4,085 3 28

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  (210) 772 – –

Deferred income tax

Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences  (8,934) 676 – –

Total income tax (income)/expense reported  
in the income statement  (4,266) 5,533 3 28

Represented by income tax (income)/expense related to:

– significant items in continuing operations  (1,368) 772 – –

– continuing operations  6,032 8,245 3 28

– significant items in discontinuing operations  (5,629) (862) – –

– discontinuing operations 4 (3,301) (2,622) – –

Statement of Changes in Equity

Deferred income tax related to items charged  
or credited directly to equity

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (1,398) 159 – –

Net gain on revaluation of cash flow hedges  (741) (235) – –

Income tax (income)/expense reported in equity  (2,139) (76) – –

41



Note 3. Income tax continued

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the Group’s applicable 
income tax rate is as follows:

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit from continuing operations before income tax  21,512 30,537 4,124 15,725

Loss from discontinuing operations before income tax  (59,803) (11,644) – –

Accounting profit/(loss) from total operations before income tax  (38,291) 18,893 4,124 15,725

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2006: 30%)  (11,488) 5,668 1,237 4,718

–  adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years  (210) 772 – –

–  effect of different rates of tax on overseas income  (1,216) 41 – –

–  rebateable dividends  – – (1,297) (4,724)

–  expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes  8,486 (27) 63 34

–  other  162 (921) – –

Income tax (income)/expense reported in the income statement (4,266) 5,533 3 28

 Balance Sheet Income Statement

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

Consolidated

Deferred tax liabilities

Brand names  1,875 1,875 – –

Provisions and accruals  401 76 (325) (474)

Development costs  1,611 991 (620) (467)

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses  279 668 389 (882)

Foreign currency translation reserve  (628) (435) – 768

Other  – 484 484 (314)

Gross deferred income tax liabilities  3,538 3,659

Deferred tax assets

Losses available for offset against future taxable income  7,554 32 7,522 (324)

Provisions and accruals  7,256 5,112 2,144 (473)

Foreign currency translation reserve  1,405 419 (219) 419

Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses  (37) (328) 291 (323)

Employee benefits  1,369 1,652 (283) 172

Revaluation of inventories  – 657 (657) 657

Cash flow hedge reserve  976 235 – –

Other  1,008 800 208 565

Gross deferred income tax assets  19,531 8,579

Deferred tax income/(expense)    8,934 (676)
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 Balance Sheet Income Statement

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 3. Income tax continued

Parent

Deferred tax liabilities  – –  

Deferred tax assets  – –  

Deferred tax income/(expense)    – –

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current income tax

Current tax asset  5,413 4,221 3,535 3,942

Current tax liabilities  2,087 1,731 – –

The Group has tax losses arising in Australia of $7,534,000 (2006: $nil) and in Hong Kong of $22,000 (2006: $32,000) that are 
available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

At 30 June 2007, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2006: $nil) for taxes that would be payable on 
the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities, as the Group has no liability for additional 
taxation should such amounts be remitted.

Tax consolidation

Housewares International Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group 
with effect from 1 July 2002.

The head entity, Housewares International Limited, and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group are required to account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group 
continues to be a stand-alone tax payer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Housewares International Limited also recognises:

(a)  the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed 
from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group; and

(b)  assets or liabilities arising for Housewares International Limited under the tax funding agreement as amounts receivable from 
or payable to other entities in the Group.

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement supports the calculation 
of current tax liabilities (and assets) and deferred tax assets/liabilities on a stand-alone basis. Calculation is performed in accordance 
with AASB 112 Income Tax. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase/decrease in the 
subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, Housewares International Limited.

No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of the tax sharing agreement should the head entity default 
on its tax payment obligations on the basis that the possibility of default is remote.

In preparing the accounts for Housewares International Limited for the current year, the following amounts have been recognised 
as tax-consolidation adjustments:

  Parent

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
    $’000 $’000

Total increase/(reduction) to:

–  current tax asset of Housewares International Limited    3,567 3,971

–  inter-company assets of Housewares International Limited    (3,567) (3,971)
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Note 4. Discontinued operations

(a) Details of operations disposed and held for sale

On 16 November 2006, Housewares International Limited publicly announced that the board of directors had retained the services 
of Gresham Advisory Partners Limited to assist in evaluating options for either productively growing the rationalised Australian 
Homewares business, including SABCO retail and commercial activities, through effective bolt-on acquisitions and/or further 
divestments. This business has been operating in a sector with reducing margins and increasing pressures from competitors.

Based on the status of the various options as at 31 December 2006, the Australian Homewares business was classified as a 
disposal group and was held for sale.

The board of directors announced on 10 May 2007 that the sale of the SABCO retail and commercial activities was completed 
effective 30 March 2007.

On 8 June 2007 the board announced that the sale of the Australian Homewares business was approved by the company in an 
extraordinary general meeting. The effective date of this sale was 16 March 2007.

The completion of the above two disposals brings to a conclusion the company’s rationalisation and restructure of the Australian 
Homewares and SABCO businesses.

The loss recognised on the measurement to fair value relating to the discontinued operations amounted to $40,764,000 as set 
out in the tables that follow.

(b) Assets and liabilities – operations disposed and held for sale

The major classes of assets and liabilities associated with the Homewares/SABCO at 30 June 2007 are as follows:

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June
     2007  2006^
   Note $’000 $’000

Assets

Assets classified as held for sale

Inventories    462 28,669

Plant and equipment   14(i) 100 3,813

Assets classified as held for sale    562 32,482

Other assets attributed to discontinued operations

Trade and other receivables    15,094 13,378

Other assets    140 1,709

Intangible assets – other    – 14,140

Intangible assets – goodwill    – 15,930

Total assets attributed to discontinued operations    15,796 77,639

Liabilities

Other liabilities attributed to discontinued operations

Trade and other payables    5,756 4,928

Provisions    3,214 1,099

Total liabilities attributed to discontinued operations    8,970 6,027

Net assets attributed to discontinued operations    6,826 71,612

^  In accordance with Australian accounting standards, the 30 June 2006 comparatives have not been reclassified or re-presented 
to reflect the classification of the disposal group in the balance sheet as at 30 June 2006. The 30 June 2006 balances shown 
above are presented for information purposes only.
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Note 4. Discontinued operations continued

(c) Financial performance of operations disposed and held for sale

The results of the discontinued operations for the year to 30 June 2007 are presented below:

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
   Note $’000 $’000

Revenue  65,603 74,336

Cost of sales  (54,393) (54,280)

Gross profit  11,210 20,056

Finance income  98 238

Other expenses  (21,118) (26,545)

Underlying loss before tax, finance costs, significant items  
and fair value adjustments  (9,810) (6,251)

Finance costs:

– interest  (1,482) (2,105)

– other borrowing costs  (335) (413)

Significant items:

– Restructuring costs associated with discontinued operations (including redundancy costs)  (4,288) (2,550)

– Onerous lease contracts and make good  (3,124) –

– Discontinued supplier contract  – (325)

Loss before tax and before fair value adjustments from discontinued operations  (19,039) (11,644)

Tax income related to pre-tax loss, excluding significant items 3 3,301 2,622

Tax income related to significant items  2,224 862

Loss after tax and before fair value adjustments from discontinued operations  (13,514) (8,160)

Loss recognised on the measurement to fair value related to:

– Trade and other receivables  (891) –

– Inventories  (5,915) –

– Other assets  (452) –

– Plant and equipment 14(i) (2,926) –

– Intangible assets – other (development costs) 15(a)(i) (823) –

– Intangible assets – other (computer software) 15(b)(i) (325) –

– Intangible assets – other (brand names) 15(c)(i) (12,898) –

– Intangible assets – goodwill 16(i) (15,930) –

– Discontinuation of hedge accounting  (604) –

  (40,764) –

Tax income related to measurement to fair value  3,405 –

Loss after tax and after fair value adjustments from discontinued operations  (50,873) (8,160)

  Cents Cents

Earnings per share from loss attributable to the ordinary  
equity holders of the parent entity:
– basic earning per share  (40.92) (6.71)

– diluted earnings per share  (39.53) (6.55)
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
   Note $’000 $’000

Note 4. Discontinued operations continued

(d) Cash flow information – operations disposed and held for sale

The net cash flows of discontinued operations are as follows:
Operating activities  (8,581) (5,493)

Investing activities  6,963 (4,963)

Financing activities  9,389 13,717

Net cash inflow/(outflow)  7,771 3,261

Consideration received or receivable:
Cash  8,137

Other receivables – deferred settlement (current) 8 7,237

Other receivables – deferred settlement (non-current) 8 1,000

Total disposal consideration  16,374

Less net assets disposed of  (16,374)

  –

Note 5. Earnings per share

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
    $’000 $’000

Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:

Net profit from continuing operations attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  16,848 21,520

Loss attributable to discontinued operations    (50,873) (8,160)

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent    (34,025) 13,360

  Thousands Thousands

Weighted average number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share   124,321 121,553

Effect of dilution:

–  share options    4,377 2,877

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution  128,698 124,430

Weighted average number of exercised, forfeited or expired potential ordinary shares  
included in diluted earnings per share    429 150

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares that would significantly change the 
number of ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date of completion 
of these financial statements.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 6. Dividends

(a) Dividends on ordinary shares declared  
and paid during the year:

Final franked dividend for 2006 of 3.5 cents per share  
(2005: 3.5 cents per share)

–  Paid in cash (i) 2,715 2,534 2,715 2,534

–  Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan (ii) 1,607 1,678 1,607 1,678

  4,322 4,212 4,322 4,212

Interim franked dividend for 2007 was nil  
(2006: 9.5 cents per share)

–  Paid in cash (i) – 8,077 – 8,077

–  Reinvested through dividend reinvestment plan (ii) – 3,456 – 3,456

  – 11,533 – 11,533

Total franked dividends declared and paid during the year  
of 3.5 cents per share (2006: 13.0 cents per share)

(i) Total dividends paid in cash  2,715 10,611 2,715 10,611

(ii) Total dividends reinvested  1,607 5,134 1,607 5,134

Total dividends  4,322 15,745 4,322 15,745

(b) Dividends on ordinary shares proposed  
and not recognised as a liability:

Final franked dividend for 2007 is nil (2006: 3.5 cents per share)  – 4,322 – 4,322

  Parent

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
    $’000 $’000

(c) Franking credit balance

The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent year are:

–  franking account balance as at the end of the year at 30% (2006: 30%)   8,206 10,050

–  franking credits/(debits) that will arise from the payment/(refund) of  
income tax payable as at the end of the year    (3,565) (3,942)

    4,641 6,108

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:

–  impact on the franking account of dividends proposed or declared  
before the financial report was authorised for issue but not recognised  
as distribution to equity holders during the period    – (1,852)

    4,641 4,256

The tax rate at which paid dividends have been franked is 30% (2006: 30%).
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 7. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand (a) 22,657 13,897 1 2

  22,657 13,897 1 2

Notes:
(a) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
(b)  At 30 June 2007, the Group had available $40,570,000 (2006: $46,466,000) 

of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions 
precedent had been met.

(c) The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $22,657,000 (2006: $13,897,000).

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement:

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise the following at 30 June:

Cash and cash equivalents  22,657 13,897 1 2

Bank overdraft 19 (8,148) (181) – –

  14,509 13,716 1 2

(b) Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) after tax  
for the year to net cash flows from operations

Net profit/(loss) for the year  (34,025) 13,360 4,121 15,697

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation  4,641 4,062 – –

Share options expense  209 114 209 114

Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment  196 87 – –

Net fair value change on derivatives  (1,673) – – –

Share of jointly controlled entities’ net (profits) and losses  (2,205) (1,113) – –

Loss recognised on re-measurement to fair value  32,901 – – –

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in:

Trade and other receivables  16,778 (5,381) – –

Inventories  2,012 19,654 – –

Prepayments  2,194 (140) – –

Current tax assets  (1,192) (851) 3 (9)

Derivative assets  1,285 (1,442) – –

Deferred tax assets  (10,952) (693) – –

Assets held for sale  (462) – – –

(Decrease)/increase in:

Trade and other payables  (1,535) 1,900 – –

Provisions  2,344 (377) – –

Derivative liabilities  2,040 1,250 – –

Current tax liabilities  356 (1,369) – –

Deferred tax liabilities  (121) 1,369 – –

Net cash from operating activities  12,791 30,430 4,333 15,802

(c) Disclosure of financing facilities

Refer to Note 19.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 8. Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade receivables (a) 62,146 65,951 – –

Allowance for uncollectible receivables  (1,053) (1,230) – –

Trade receivables, net  61,093 64,721 – –

Other receivables (b) 3,358 2,486 – –

Deferred settlement – discontinued operations 4(d) 7,237 – – –

Related party receivables:

– loan to jointly controlled entity (c) – 1,245 – –

– inter-company receivables (controlled entities) (d) – – 57,983 55,091

  71,688 68,452 57,983 55,091

Non-current

Deferred settlement – discontinued operations 4(d) 1,000 – – –

  1,000 – – –

Notes:
(a)  Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30–60 day terms. An allowance for uncollectible receivables is made when 

there is objective evidence that a trade receivable is impaired. An allowance of $723,000 (2006: $81,000) has been recognised by the Group 
as an expense for the current year for specific debtors for which such evidence exists. The amount of the allowance/impairment loss has been 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the trade receivables and the estimated future cash flows expected to be received 
from the relevant debtors.

(b) Non-trade other receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms between 30 and 60 days.
(c)  Loan to jointly controlled entity represented a loan receivable in the prior year from Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. for Canadian dollar 

$1,000,000, which was unsecured and non-interest bearing. The loan was repayable on demand and is subordinated in favour of the joint 
venture partnership’s banker. This loan was repaid during the financial year. Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. became a wholly owed subsidiary 
on 1 January 2007.

(d)  Inter-company receivable balance between Housewares International Limited (Parent) and its controlled entities are unsecured and non-interest 
bearing, and are repayable on demand.

Details regarding the effective interest rate and credit risk of current receivables are disclosed in Note 27.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 9. Inventories

Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realisable value) (a) 68,776 76,606 – –

Stock in transit (at cost)  11,718 9,862 – –

Total inventories (at lower of cost and net realisable value)  80,494 86,468 – –

Notes:
(a)  Total inventory write-downs recognised in the income statement totalled $4,427,000 (2006: ($2,584,000)) for the Group. This expense is included 

either in the cost of sales line item as a cost of inventories or as part of the fair value inventory adjustment of the discontinued operations.

4�



 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 10. Other financial assets

Derivative assets:

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges  – 368 – –

Foreign currency put option contracts – cash flow hedges  – 1,014 – –

Interest rate swap contracts – held for trading  277 60 – –

Total other financial assets  277 1,442 – –

Notes:
Derivative assets represent the fair value receivable arising from foreign currency forward contracts, foreign currency put option contracts, and 
interest rate swap contracts disclosed in Note 21.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 11. Other assets

Prepayments  1,561 3,693 – –

Total other assets  1,561 3,693 – –

Note 12. Investments in jointly controlled entities

Investments in jointly controlled entities (c) 95 8,760 – –

  95 8,760 – –

  Ownership interest 
  % held by  
  Consolidated Group

    30 June 30 June
  Balance  2007 2006
 Note date  % %

Anglo Canadian Housewares, L.P. (i) 30 June  N/A 50.0

HWI China Limited (ii) 30 June  50.0 50.0

Notes:
(i)  From 1 January 2007, HWI Canada Inc. has a 100% (2006: 50%) interest in Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. (“Anglo”), which is a Canadian 

limited liability partnership. Anglo is principally involved in the importation, distribution and marketing of homewares products in Canada. From 
1 January 2007, the results of Anglo form part of the consolidated group and are no longer equity accounted.

(ii)  HWI China Holdings Limited has a 50% interest in HWI China Limited, which is a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong. HWI China Limited 
is principally involved in the shipping administration, quality control, and factory sourcing and liaison services for the Group.

There were no impairment losses relating to the investments in jointly controlled entities and no capital commitments or other 
commitments relating to these jointly controlled entities.
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
    $’000 $’000

Note 12. Investments in jointly controlled entities continued

The following table illustrates summarised financial information relating to the Group’s  
investment in its jointly controlled entities:

(a) Share of jointly controlled entities’ balance sheet:

Current assets    1,097 13,399

Non-current assets    38 676

Total assets    1,135 14,075

Current liabilities    (1,040) (8,891)

Non-current liabilities    – –

Total liabilities    (1,040) (8,891)

Net assets    95 5,184

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ income statement:

Income    17,393 31,299

Expenses    (15,196) (30,155)

Profit before income tax    2,197 1,144

Income tax benefit/(expense)    8 (31)

Profit after income tax    2,205 1,113

(c) Carrying amount of investment in jointly controlled entities:

Balance at beginning of the year    8,760 6,652

Change in exchange rates on opening balance    (1,252) 995

Share of jointly controlled entities profits    2,205 1,113

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities    (2,174) –

Ceasing to be an equity accounted investment    (7,444) –

Balance at end of the year    95 8,760

(d) Retained profits of the consolidated entity attributable  
to the jointly controlled entities

Balance at the beginning of the year    595 (518)

Share of the jointly controlled entities profits    2,205 1,113

Distributions received from jointly controlled entities    (2,174) –

Ceasing to be an equity accounted investment    (516) –

Balance at the end of the year    110 595

(e) Share of jointly controlled entities commitments

(i) Operating lease expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:

Not later than one year    – 653

Later than one year but not later than five years    – 2,600

Later than five years    – 299

    – 3,552

(ii) Letters of credit outstanding    – 787
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 13. Investments in controlled entities

Investments in controlled entities at cost comprise:

Investments in controlled entities 30 – – 69,429 69,429

  – – 69,429 69,429

Note 14. Plant and equipment

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  30,472 28,112 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (19,938) (17,408) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 10,534 10,704 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  28,603 30,472 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (19,096) (19,938) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 9,507 10,534 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  10,534 10,704 – –

Additions  4,701 2,964 – –

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 28(a) 830 – – –

Additions – business combination 28(b) – 257 – –

Disposal – discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) (2,926) – – –

Assets included in discontinued operations held for sale 4(b) (100) – – –

Disposals  (520) (247) – –

Depreciation – continuing operations 2(d) (2,624) (2,289) – –

Depreciation – discontinuing operations  (203) (811) – –

Net exchange difference  (185) (44) – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  9,507 10,534 – –

Note 15. Intangible assets – other

Development costs (a) 5,372 4,141 – –

Capitalised software (b) 1,277 1,219 – –

Brand names (c) 31,803 44,701 – –

  38,452 50,061 – –

Notes:

Development costs are internally generated and have been capitalised at cost. This intangible asset has been assessed as having a finite life and is 
amortised using the straight-line method over a maximum period of 3 years. If an impairment indication arises, the recoverable amount is estimated 
and an impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount.

Capitalised software is purchased computer software that has been capitalised into other intangible assets at cost.

Brand names include intangible assets acquired through previous business combinations. These intangible assets have been determined to have 
indefinite useful lives and the cost model is utilised for their measurement. These assets were tested for impairment as at 30 June 2007 (see Note 17).
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 15. Intangible assets – other continued

(a) Development costs

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  5,017 1,960 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (876) (214) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 4,141 1,746 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  7,282 5,017 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (1,910) (876) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 5,372 4,141 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  4,141 1,746 – –

Additions – internal development  3,344 3,057 – –

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) (823) – – –

Amortisation – continuing operations 2(d) (1,137) (560) – –

Amortisation – discontinuing operations  (153) (102) – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  5,372 4,141 – –

(b) Computer software

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  2,597 1,720 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (1,378) (1,078) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 1,219 642 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  2,859 2,597 – –

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (1,582) (1,378) – –

Net carrying amount (i) 1,277 1,219 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  1,219 642 – –

Additions  896 879 – –

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 28(a) 104 – – –

Amortisation – continuing operations 2(d) (224) (109) – –

Amortisation – discontinuing operations  (300) (191) – –

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) (325) – – –

Net exchange difference  (93) (2) – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  1,277 1,219 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 15. Intangible assets – other continued

(c) Brand names

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  44,701 44,701 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 44,701 44,701 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  31,803 44,701 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 31,803 44,701 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  44,701 44,701 – –

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) (12,898) – – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  31,803 44,701 – –

Note 16. Intangible assets – goodwill

At the beginning of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  32,799 29,465 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 32,799 29,465 – –

At the end of the year

At Cost (Gross carrying amount)  24,558 32,799 – –

Accumulated impairment  – – – –

Net carrying amount (i) 24,558 32,799 – –

(i) Reconciliation of the carrying amount

Carrying amount at the beginning of year  32,799 29,465 – –

Assets included in discontinued operations and impaired 4(c) (15,930) – – –

Additions – acquisition of subsidiary 28(a) 7,689 – – –

Additions – business combination 28(b) – 3,334 – –

Carrying amount at the end of year  24,558 32,799 – –
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Note 17. Impairment testing of goodwill and 
intangibles with indefinite lives

Goodwill and brand names acquired through business 
combinations have been allocated to 5 individual cash 
generating units for impairment testing as follows:

–  Breville Pty Ltd (Australia)

–  Metro Thebe Inc (United States of America)

–  Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. (Canada)

–  Breville NZ Ltd (New Zealand)

–  HWI International Limited (Asia)

Breville Pty Ltd

The recoverable amount of the Breville Pty Ltd unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projects based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 13.7% 
(2006: 13.8%) and cash flows beyond the five year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2006: 2.5%), which 
is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the 
wholesale consumer products industry generally in Australia.

Metro Thebe, Inc.

The recoverable amount of the Metro Thebe, Inc. unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projects based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 13.7% 
(2006: 13.8%) and cash flows beyond the five year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2006: 2.5%), which 
is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the 
wholesale consumer products industry generally.

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.

The recoverable amount of the Anglo-Canadian Housewares, 
L.P. unit has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation using cash flow projects based on financial budgets 
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 13.7% 
and cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated 
using a 2.5% growth rate, which is the same as the long-term 
average growth rate for the wholesale consumer products 
industry generally.

Breville NZ Ltd

The recoverable amount of the Breville NZ Ltd unit has been 
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projects based on financial budgets approved by senior 
management covering a five-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 13.7% 
(2006: 13.8%) and cash flows beyond the five year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2006: 2.5%), which 
is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the 
wholesale consumer products industry generally.

HWI International Ltd

The recoverable amount of the HWI International Ltd unit has 
been determined based on a value in use calculation using 
cash flow projects based on financial budgets approved by 
senior management covering a five-year period.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 13.7% 
(2006: 13.8%) and cash flows beyond the five year period are 
extrapolated using a 2.5% growth rate (2006: 2.5%), which 
is the same as the long-term average growth rate for the 
wholesale consumer products industry generally.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 17. Impairment testing of goodwill and  
intangibles with indefinite lives continued

Carrying amount of goodwill and brand names  
allocated to each of the cash generating units

Breville Pty Ltd

– goodwill  8,209 8,209 – –

– brand names with indefinite useful lives  31,803 31,803 – –

  40,012 40,012 – –

Metro Thebe, Inc

– goodwill  5,843 5,843 – –

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.

– goodwill 28(a) 7,689 – – –

Breville NZ Ltd

– goodwill  981 981 – –

HWI International Ltd

– goodwill  1,836 1,836 – –

Thebe International Pty Ltd (discontinued operation)

– goodwill  – 15,930 – –

– brand names with indefinite useful lives  – 12,898 – –

  – 28,828 – –

All cash generating units
– goodwill 16 24,558 32,799 – –

– brand names with indefinite useful lives 15(c) 31,803 44,701 – –

  56,361 77,500 – –

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations for the cash generating units for 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2006

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projects when determining the value 
in use of the cash generating units.

–  Budgeted gross margins – the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross 
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements and expected 
growth initiatives. Thus, values assigned to gross margins reflect past experience, except for efficiency improvements and 
expected growth initiatives, which have been estimated at 2.5% per annum.

–  Bond rates – the yield on a five-year government bond rate at the beginning of the budgeted year is used.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 18. Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables – unsecured (a) 44,618 37,437 – –

Employee benefits 32(a) 3,545 3,619 – –

Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (b) 392 784 – –

  48,555 41,840 – –

Non-current
Deferred cash settlement for business acquired (b) – 392 – –

  – 392 – –

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:
(a) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.
(b)  At 30 June 2007, the consolidated entity had a deferred cash settlement representing the remaining consideration payable for the acquisition 

of the business for Britette Australia Pty Ltd (refer Note 28 (b) for details on the business combination).

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 19. Borrowings

Current
Bank overdrafts – on demand 7(a) 8,148 181 – –

Other loans:

– Bills of exchange  50,510 10,881 – –

– Term loan  853 – – –

  59,511 11,062 – –

Non-current

Other loans:

– Bills of exchange  35,000 66,652 – –

  35,000 66,652 – –

Notes:
The bills of exchange and bank overdraft are provided by various banks. Interest rates include both fixed and floating arrangements. The interest 
rates on fixed rate borrowings are at 6.5% per annum representing the weighted average contract rate in place at year-end. Borrowings include 
Australian dollar, US dollar, Hong Kong dollar and New Zealand dollar denominated amounts. The ANZ bank overdraft is secured by a first ranking 
fixed and floating registered charge over all the assets and undertakings of Thebe International Pty Ltd and Breville Pty Ltd and is guaranteed by 
Housewares International Limited. The USA facilities are secured by a first priority security interest over the assets of Metro/Thebe, Inc. in favour 
of City National Bank. The total carrying value of the assets secured under the above borrowings amounts to $274,029,000 (2006: $262,704,000).  
The Canadian facilities are secured by a moveable hypothec over all the assets of Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. in favour of HSBC.

57



Note 19. Borrowings continued

Bank covenants

ANZ
As set out in Note 11 of the Group’s 31 December 2006 Half-Year Report, the Group highlighted its intention to dispose of its 
Australian and New Zealand Homewares and Sabco cleaning businesses resulting in significant asset write downs and other related 
charges. This resulted in an event of default and a financial covenant review event under the terms of the Facility Agreement with 
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ). Accordingly, the Group disclosed all of the ANZ drawn commercial bills 
of exchange as current liabilities at the half year.

Subsequent to the Half Year, the ANZ agreed in writing, pre 30 June 2007, to waive the breach of financial covenant undertakings 
and any other event of default arising from the above divestments that occurred in the period. This has enabled the Group to 
classify its five year term Commercial Bill facility for $35,000,000 with a term to 30 December 2010 as non current liabilities. The 
ANZ also confirmed the continuation of all short-term facilities for another 12 months until their next Review Date (30 May 2008). 
The Company expects to re-negotiate the ANZ finance facilities and financial covenant undertakings before the next Review Date 
to reflect the restructured Group following the above divestments.

City National Bank
During the last 6 months Metro/Thebe Inc a controlled entity within the Group, failed to comply with certain requirements of their 
banking agreement with City National Bank, which resulted in an event of default. The Group has classified this debt of $16,463,000 
as a current liability. Subsequent to year-end the bank has agreed in writing to waive the event of default.

Bills of exchange

Bills of exchange have maturities ranging from 1 to 3 months with effective interest rates of 6.4% to 7.8% (2006: 5.9% to 8.3%).

  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
   Note $’000 $’000

Financing facilities available

At reporting date, the following financial facilities have been  
negotiated and were available to the Group:

Facilities used at the reporting date   (a) 133,542 111,421

Facilities unused at the reporting date   (b) 57,719 65,420

Total facilities   (c) 191,261 176,841

(a) Facilities used at the reporting date:

– Bills of exchange facility    69,900 66,652

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    7,984 1

– Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts    7,360 17,043

– Business transactions facility    445 14,847

– Working capital/documentary credit    21,061 11,167

– Interest rate swap    25,000 –

– Other facilities    1,792 1,711

    133,542 111,421

(b) Facilities unused at the reporting date:

– Bills of exchange facility    8,600 9,148

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    6,287 999

– Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts    25,683 36,319

– Business transactions facility    3,175 –

– Working capital/documentary credit    13,441 13,470

– Interest rate swap    – –

– Other facilities    533 5,484

    57,719 65,420
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  Consolidated

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
    $’000 $’000

Note 19. Borrowings continued

(c) Total facilities:

– Bills of exchange facility    78,500 75,800

– Bank overdraft facility (in functional currency)    14,271 1,000

– Trade finance and foreign currency overdrafts    33,043 53,362

– Business transactions facility    3,620 14,847

– Working capital/documentary credit    34,502 24,637

– Interest rate swap    25,000 –

– Other facilities    2,325 7,195

    191,261 176,841

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 20. Provisions

Current
Warranty and faulty goods  1,872 2,075 – –

Employee benefits – long service 32(a) 1,066 1,398 – –

Onerous lease contracts and make good  914 166 – –

Total current provisions (i) 3,852 3,639 – –

Non-current
Onerous lease contracts  2,210 – – –

Employee benefits – long service 32(a) 637 936 – –

Total non-current provisions (i) 2,847 936 – –
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  Consolidated

    Onerous 
   Employee lease 
 Warranty  benefits – contracts  
 and faulty long and make  
 goods service good Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 20. Provisions continued

(i) Movement in provisions

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year:

Current 2,075 1,398 166 3,639

Non-current – 936 – 936

Total 2,075 2,334 166 4,575

Movement in provisions during the year:

Additional provisions made in the year 8,535 29 3,124 11,688

Amounts utilised during the year (8,706) (660) (166) (9,532)

Net exchange differences (32) – – (32)

Net movement (203) (631) 2,958 2,124

Carrying amount at the end of the year:

Current 1,872 1,066 914 3,852

Non-current – 637 2,210 2,847

Total 1,872 1,703 3,124 6,699

There were no movements in provisions in the parent entity’s accounts during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007.

(a) Warranty and faulty goods

A provision for warranty and faulty goods represents the present value of the best estimate of the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits expected that will be required for warranty and faulty goods claims on products sold. This estimate is based on the 
historical trends experienced on the level of repairs and returns. It is expected that these costs will be incurred in the next year. 
Assumptions used to calculate the provision for warranty and faulty goods were based on the level of warranty and faulty goods 
claims experienced during the last year.

(b) Employee benefits – long service

The provision for employee benefits represents the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using appropriate market yields at the 
reporting date to estimate the future cash outflows.

(c) Onerous lease contracts and make good

The provision for onerous lease contracts and make good represents the present value of the future lease payments that the 
consolidated entity is presently obligated to make in respect of onerous lease contracts under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements, less revenue expected to be earned on the lease including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where applicable. 
It also includes the anticipated costs of future restoration of leased premises. The estimate may vary as a result of changes in 
the utilisation of the leased premises and sub-lease arrangements where applicable and restoration cost estimates. The opening 
provision related to the lease associated with closure of the Rydalmere warehouse in October 2004, which expired in September 
2006. The additional provision during the year related to leases associated with the Homewares/SABCO discontinued operation.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 21. Other financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities:

Forward exchange contracts – cash flow hedges (i) 3,201 56 – –

Forward exchange contracts – held for trading (ii) 89 – – –

Foreign currency put option contracts – cash flow hedges (iii) – 1,194 – –

Total other financial liabilities  3,290 1,250 – –

(a) Instruments used by the Group

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposures to fluctuations 
in interest and foreign exchange rates and to trade in short-term movements in exchange rates.

(i) Foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges
The majority of the Group’s inventory purchases from suppliers are denominated in US dollars. In order to protect against exchange 
rate movements and to manage the inventory costing process, the Group has entered into forward exchange contracts to purchase 
US$. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted purchases and they are timed to mature when settlement of 
purchases are scheduled to be made.

The cash flows are expected to occur between 0–9 months from 1 July 2007 and the cost of sales within the income statement 
will be affected in the next financial year as the inventory is sold. At balance date, the details of outstanding contracts are:

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

   Average   Average 
   exchange   exchange 
  A$’000 rate A$’000 rate

Buy US$/Sell Australian $

Buy US$ – maturity 1–9 months  50,651 0.7996 30,088 0.7400

Buy US$/Sell New Zealand $

Buy US$ – maturity 1–9 months  6,735 0.7020 3,410 0.6670

The cash flow hedges of the forecast purchases are considered to be highly effective and any gain or loss on the contracts is taken 
directly to equity. When the inventory is received the amount recognised in equity is adjusted to the inventory account in the balance 
sheet. During the year $6,103,000 (2006: $660,000) was transferred to inventory in respect of the Group. In addition during the year 
$8,665,000 (2006: $1,665,000) was charged to equity in respect of the Group.

(ii) Foreign exchange contracts – held for trading
Trading contracts are entered into for the purpose of profiting from short-term movements in exchange rates. The Group has the 
following contracts outstanding at balance date:

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

   Average   Average 
   exchange   exchange 
  A$’000 rate A$’000 rate

Buy US$/Sell Canadian $

US dollar  2,442 0.9058 – –

These contracts are fair valued by comparing the contracted rates for contracts with the same length of maturity. All movements in 
fair value are recognised in the profit or loss in the period they occur. The net fair value gains on foreign exchange derivatives during 
the year were $89,000 for the Group (2006: nil).
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Note 21. Other financial liabilities continued

(iii) Foreign currency put option contracts – cash flow hedges
In order to protect against exchange rate movements and to manage the inventory costing process, the Group also enters into 
foreign currency put option contracts to purchase US$. These contracts are hedging highly probable forecasted purchases and they 
are timed to mature in the quarter when settlements of purchases are scheduled to be made. At 30 June 2007, the Group held no 
foreign exchange put option contracts designated as hedges of forecast purchases from suppliers.

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

   Average   Average 
   exchange   exchange 
  A$’000 rate A$’000 rate

Summary of foreign exchange put option contracts

Amounts to be settled in Australian dollars

US dollar  – – 38,356 0.7300

Amounts to be settled in New Zealand dollars

US dollar  – – 7,463 0.6700

(iv) Interest rate swaps – held for trading
Borrowings of the Group currently bear an average variable interest rate of 6.5%. In order to protect against rising interest rates the 
Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it has a right to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest 
at fixed rates.

At 30 June 2007, the Group had interest rate swap agreements in place with a notional amount of $25,000,000 (2006: 
$32,500,000) whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the BBSW on the notional amount, and pays an average fixed rate of 
interest of 6.59% (2006: 5.54%). Swaps in place cover approximately 29% (2006: 42%) of the principal outstanding. The swaps 
are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of its bills of exchange. In 2007, an unrealised gain of $277,000 
(2006: $60,000 gain) is included in income statement in respect of these contracts.

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 120 days. The settlement dates coincide with 
the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The swaps are measured at fair value and all gains and losses are 
taken directly to the income statement.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 June 2007, the notional principal amounts and period  
of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

<1 year  – 32,500 – –

1–2 years  – – – –

2–3 years  – – – –

3–4 years  – – – –

4–5 years  25,000 – – –

5+ years  – – – –

  25,000 32,500 – –
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 22. Issued capital

Ordinary shares – issued (a) 131,570 128,894 131,570 128,894

Ordinary shares – reserved under SEOP (b) (857) (657) (857) (657)

Total contributed equity  130,713 128,237 130,713 128,237

Effective 1 July 1998, the then applicable Corporations legislation abolished the concepts of authorised capital and par value shares. 
Accordingly, the Parent does not have authorised capital, nor par value, in respect of its issued shares.

Ordinary shares issued and reserved under SEOP have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the 
company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the company.

 Parent

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

  Number of  Number of 
 Note shares $’000 shares $’000

(a) Movements in ordinary issued  
shares for the period:

Beginning of the year  123,454,185 128,894 120,313,918 123,686

Issued during the year

– dividend reinvestment plan (i) 985,447 1,607 3,100,267 5,134

– exercise of options – non-recourse loans (ii) 318,000 588 40,000 74

– exercise of options – cash (iii) 260,000 481 – –

End of the year  125,017,632 131,570 123,454,185 128,894

(i)  The shares issued pursuant to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan were issued at a 2.5% discount to the weighted average market price of the 
company’s shares sold on the Australian Stock Exchange during the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding, and inclusive of, 
the record date. Refer 6(a) for further information.

(ii)  During the year 318,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares (2006: 40,000 options). The average value placed 
on these issues was $1.85 per share (2006: $1.85 per share). Details are provided in Note 31.

(iii)  During the year 260,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary shares (2006: nil). The average value placed on these issues 
was $1.85 per share. Details are provided in Note 31.

 Parent

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

  Number of  Number of 
 Note shares $’000 shares $’000

(b) Movements in ordinary reserved  
shares for the period:

Beginning of the year  (352,000) (657) (855,000) (1,114)

Ordinary reserved shares issued during the year (i) (318,000) (588) (40,000) (74)

Ordinary reserved shares released from share-based payment (ii) 210,000 388 543,000 531

End of the year  (460,000) (857) (352,000) (657)

(i)  During the year 318,000 options were exercised resulting in the issue of ordinary reserved shares (2006: 40,000 options). The average value 
placed on these issues was $1.85 per share (2006: $1.85 per share). Details are provided in Note 31.

(ii)  During the year 210,000 ordinary reserved shares were repaid (2006: 543,000 options). The average value placed on these issues was 
$1.85 per share (2006: $0.98 per share). Details are provided in Note 31.

(c) Options over ordinary shares:

The company has two share based payment option schemes under which options to subscribe for the company’s shares have been 
granted to certain directors and senior executives (refer Note 31). At the end of the year there were 3,288,666 (2006: 4,806,666) 
unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options were outstanding.
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 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 23. Reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve (a) (4,744) (1,450) – –

Employee equity benefits reserve (b) 529 320 529 320

Cash flow hedge reserve (c) (2,225) (551) – –

Total reserves  (6,440) (1,681) 529 320

(a) Movement in foreign currency translation reserve

Balance at beginning of year  (1,450) (1,856) – –

Currency translation differences  (4,692) 565 – –

Tax effect of currency translation differences  1,398 (159) – –

Balance at end of year  (4,744) (1,450) – –

(b) Movement in employee equity benefits reserve

Balance at beginning of year  320 206 320 206

Share-based payments  209 114 209 114

Balance at end of year  529 320 529 320

(c) Movement in cash flow hedge reserve

Balance at beginning of year  (551) – – –

Net losses on cash flow hedges  (2,415) (786) – –

Tax effect of net losses on cash flow hedges  741 235 – –

Balance at end of year  (2,225) (551) – –

Nature and purpose of reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Employee equity benefits reserve
This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their remuneration. 
Refer to Note 31 for further details of these plans.

Cash flow hedge reserve
This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an 
effective hedge.

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Note 24. Retained earnings

Balance at beginning of the year  31,189 33,340 (93) (45)

Application of AASB 132 and AASB 139 1(k)(ii) – 234 – –

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to members  
of Housewares International Limited  (34,025) 13,360 4,121 15,697

Dividends 6(a) (4,322) (15,745) (4,322) (15,745)

Balance at end of the year  (7,158) 31,189 (294) (93)
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Note 25. Segment information

The group’s operating companies are organised and managed separately according to their geographic location. As the risks and 
rates of return are predominately affected by differences in geographic locations the group’s primary segment reporting format is 
geographic segments. As the group’s operating companies provides similar product offerings to each geographic location and 
serves the one wholesale market there is no secondary business segment disclosed.

Transfer prices between geographic segments are set at arms length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. 
Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between geographic segments. Those transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Geographic Segments

The following table represents the revenue and profit information and certain asset and liability information regarding geographic 
segments for the year ended 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2006.

  Discontinued  Total 
 Continuing Operations Operations Operations

  New  Nth  
 Australia Zealand Asia America^ Total 
Year ended 30 June 2007 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 192,458 36,553 41,413 100,855 371,279 65,603 436,882

Other income 976 213 295 30 1,514 127 1,641

Inter segment revenue 944 – – – 944 – 944

Total segment revenue 194,378 36,766 41,708 100,885 373,737 65,730 439,467

Inter segment elimination     (944) – (944)

Non segment revenues:

– Finance revenues     337 98 435

Total consolidated revenues     373,130 65,828 438,958

Results
Segment result 10,188 2,299 10,637 1,178 24,302 (58,084) (33,782)

Unallocated expenses     (243) – (243)

Finance costs, net     (4,752) (1,719) (6,471)

Share of profits of jointly  
controlled entities – – (37) 2,242 2,205 – 2,205

Profit/(loss) before income tax     21,512 (59,803) (38,291)

Income tax benefit/(expense)     (4,664) 8,930 4,266

Net profit/(loss) for the year     16,848 (50,873) (34,025)

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 141,472 12,732 2,218 78,538 234,960 15,796 250,756

Investment in jointly  
controlled entities – – 95 – 95 – 95

Unallocated assets     24,944 – 24,944

Total assets     259,999 15,796 275,795

Segment liabilities 29,138 3,592 3,694 13,150 49,574 8,970 58,544

Unallocated liabilities     100,136 – 100,136

Total liabilities     149,710 8,970 158,680

Other segment information
Capital expenditure 2,081 18 76 2,091 4,266 435 4,701

Depreciation & amortisation 3,332 92 29 532 3,985 656 4,641

Impairment losses – – – – – (40,764) (40,764)

^ From 1 January 2007, the North America result includes the full consolidation of Anglo-Canadian Housewares L.P., refer Note 28(a) for further details.
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Note 25: Segment information continued

  Discontinued  Total 
 Continuing Operations Operations Operations

  New  Nth  
 Australia Zealand Asia America Total 
Year ended 30 June 2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue

Sales to external customers 196,845 41,841 30,661 80,503 349,850 74,336 424,186

Other income 3,040 1,134 238 87 4,499 33 4,532

Inter segment revenue 997 – – – 997 – 997

Total segment revenue 200,882 42,975 30,899 80,590 355,346 74,369 429,715

Inter segment elimination     (997) – (997)

Non segment revenues:

– Finance revenues     162 238 400

Total consolidated revenues     354,511 74,607 429,118

Results

Segment result 15,521 3,236 7,669 7,395 33,821 (9,364) 24,457

Unallocated expenses     (162) – (162)

Finance costs, net     (4,235) (2,280) (6,515)

Share of profits of jointly  
controlled entities – – 147 966 1,113 – 1,113

Profit/(loss) before income tax     30,537 (11,644) 18,893

Income tax benefit/(expense)     (9,017) 3,484 (5,533)

Net profit/(loss) for the year     21,520 (8,160) 13,360

Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 134,391 14,696 2,535 38,085 189,707 77,639 267,346

Investment in jointly controlled entities – – 149 8,611 8,760 – 8,760

Unallocated assets     12,800 – 12,800

Total assets     211,267 77,639 288,906

Segment liabilities 24,299 2,799 4,300 9,602 41,000 6,027 47,027

Unallocated liabilities     84,134 – 84,134

Total liabilities     125,134 6,027 131,161

Other segment information

Capital expenditure 1,739 104 25 330 2,198 766 2,964

Depreciation & amortisation 2,665 104 16 173 2,958 1,104 4,062
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Note 26. Financial risk management objectives 
and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than 
derivatives, comprise bills of exchange, bank overdrafts, 
cash at bank, and short-term deposits.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise 
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and 
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations. The 
Group also enters into derivative transactions, including interest 
rate swaps, forward currency contracts, and foreign currency 
put option contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest 
rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s business 
operations and its sources of finance. It is the Group’s policy 
that no speculative trading in derivatives shall be undertaken. 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are 
cash flow interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and credit risk. 
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of 
these risks and they are summarised below.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods 
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses 
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in 
Note 1 to the financial statements.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest 
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations 
with a floating interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix 
of fixed and variable rate debt. The Group’s policy is to keep 
between 25% and 55% of its borrowings at fixed rates of 
interest. To manage this mix in a cost-efficient manner, the 
Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the Group 
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference 
between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These 
swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. 
At 30 June 2007, after taking into account the effect of interest 
rate swaps, approximately 50% (2006: 50%) of the Group’s 
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such 
exposure arises from purchases of inventory by an operating 
unit in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency 
(purchases are predominately US dollar denominated).

To hedge exposure arising from the purchase of inventories 
in currencies other than the business unit’s functional currency 
a combination of put option contracts and forward exchange 
contracts are utilised. At inception these hedge contracts are 
designated as cash flow hedges to hedge the exposure to 
the variability in cash flows arising as a result of movements 
in exchange rates below contracted exchange rates for put 
options and for movements above or below a contracted 
exchange rate for foreign exchange contracts.

Also, as a result of the Group’s investment in its United 
States operations, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected 
significantly by movements in the USD/AUD exchange rate. 
The Group’s current policy is not to hedge this exposure.

At 30 June 2007, the Group had hedged 96% of its foreign 
currency purchases that are highly probable extending to 
March 2008.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if 
counterparties failed to perform as contracted. The credit risk 
on financial assets, excluding investments, of the consolidated 
entity that has been recognised on the balance sheet is the 
carrying value amount, net of any uncollectible receivables.

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy 
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is 
not significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit 
risk across the Group.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets 
of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and 
certain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 
These counter parties are large multi-national banks.

Since the Group trades only with recognised third parties, 
there is no requirement for collateral.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts and bills of exchange. The Group’s bank facilities 
carry a five year term in Australia, and a one year term in the 
USA. As at 30 June 2007 86% of the Group’s debt will mature 
in four years and 14% in less than one year.
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Note 27. Financial Instruments

Fair values

The carrying amounts and estimated net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities held at balance date are not materially 
different. The net fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount at which the asset could be exchanged, or liability 
settled in a current transaction between willing parties.

Interest rate risk

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk:

 <1 >1 – <2  >2 – <3 >3 – <4 >4 – <5 >5  
 year years  years  years  years  years Total WAEIR#

Year ended 30 June 2007 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 %

Consolidated

Financial assets

Floating rate

Cash at bank 22,632 – – – – – 22,632 5.4

WAEIR % 5.4 – – – – – 5.4

Financial liabilities

Floating rate

Bank overdraft 8,148 – – – – – 8,148 6.5

WAEIR % 6.5 – – – – – 6.5

Fixed rate

Bills of exchange 86,363 – – – – – 86,363 6.5

Interest rate swap (25,000) – – – 25,000 – – 6.6

WAEIR % 6.5 – – – 6.6 – 6.5

# WAEIR – Weighted average effective interest rate

The effect of interest rate swaps is discussed in Note 21.

Parent
No financial instruments in the Parent entity are exposed to interest rate risk.

Notes
Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year.

Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until maturity of the instrument.

The other financial instruments of the Group and the Parent that are not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not 
subject to interest rate risk.
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Note 27. Financial Instruments continued

 <1 >1 – <2  >2 – <3 >3 – <4 >4 – <5 >5  
 year years  years  years  years  years Total WAEIR#

Year ended 30 June 2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 %

Consolidated

Financial assets

Floating rate

Cash at bank 13,868 – – – – – 13,868 5.6

WAEIR % 5.6 – – – – – 5.6

Financial liabilities

Floating rate

Bank overdraft 181 – – – – – 181 3.1

WAEIR % 3.1 – – – – – 3.1

Fixed rate

Bills of exchange 77,533 – – – – – 77,533 6.7

WAEIR % 7.0 – – – – – 7.0

# WAEIR – Weighted average effective interest rate

The effect of interest rate swaps is discussed in Note 21.

Parent
No financial instruments in the Parent entity are exposed to interest rate risk.

Notes

Interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year.

Interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until maturity of the instrument.

The other financial instruments of the Group and the Parent that are not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and therefore not 
subject to interest rate risk.
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Note 28. Business Combination

(a) Acquisition of the business of Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P.

On 1 January 2007, the consolidated entity acquired the remaining 50% of Anglo-Canadian Housewares L.P., a Canadian-based 
distribution business, from its Joint Venture Partner.

The total cost of both combinations was $15,982,000 and comprised the payment of cash and costs directly attributable to 
the combination.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

  Consolidated

    Recognised  Carrying 
    on acquisition value 
   Note $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables    14,023 14,023

Inventories    12,632 12,632

Other financial assets    120 120

Plant and equipment   14(i) 830 830

Intangible assets – other   15(b)(i) 104 104

Other assets    62 62

    27,771 27,771

Trade and other payables    (7,182) (7,182)

Borrowings   (ii) (11,946) (11,946)

    (19,128) (19,128)

Fair value of identifiable net assets    8,643

less retained earnings from investment in jointly controlled partnership    (350)

Goodwill arising on acquisition   16(i) 7,689

    15,982

(i) Cost of the combinations:

Cash paid for both combinations    15,570

Direct costs relating to both combinations    412

Total cost of the combination   (ii) 15,982

(ii) Cash outflows for combinations are as follows:

Net borrowings assumed with the subsidiary    (11,946)

Cost of the combinations   (i) (15,982)

Total consolidated cash outflows    (27,928)

Cash outflows in current year    (20,825)

Cash outflows in previous years    (7,103)

If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the profit from continuing operations for the Group would 
have been $23,755,000 and revenue from continuing operations would have been $388,082,000. From the date of acquisition, 
Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. has contributed a pre-tax loss of $1,831,000 to the net loss of the Group. This is due to the 
seasonality in the volume of sales between the first and second half years, largely due to the Christmas trading period each year.

(b) Acquisition of the business of Britette Australia Pty Ltd

On 1 December 2005, the consolidated entity purchased certain assets and liabilities of the commercial cleaning business from 
Britette Australia Pty Limited.

The total cost of the combination was $4,448,000 and comprised costs directly attributable to the combination.
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Note 28. Business Combination continued

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:
  Consolidated

    Recognised on Carrying 
    acquisition value 
   Note $’000 $’000

Inventories    952 952

Plant and equipment   14(i) 257 257

    1,209 1,209

Trade and other payables    (95) (95)

    (95) (95)

Fair value of identifiable net assets    1,114

Goodwill arising on acquisition   16(i) 3,334

    4,448

Cost of the combination:

Cash paid for business combination (including costs associated with the business combination  3,272

Payables related to purchase of business    1,176

Total cost of the combination    4,448

From the date of the business combination, the SABCO Commercial business (formerly the business of Britette Australia 
Pty Limited) has contributed $3,274,000 of sales to the Group. It is not practicable to determine the net profit or loss contribution 
of SABCO Commercial due to the integration of certain financial data.

Note 29. Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
Operating leases are entered into mainly as a means of acquiring access to commercial property and storage facilities and the 
use of minor items of plant and equipment. Rental payments are generally fixed; however certain property leases contain a rental 
inflation escalation clause, an agreed rental percentage increase clause, a market rental review clause, or a mix of these clauses 
over the term of the operating lease.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year  9,963 7,836 – –

After one year but not later than five years  44,572 31,670 – –

More than five years  24,896 30,396 – –

  79,431 69,902 – –

Contingent rentals are determined with reference to known existing rental payments and known rental increases during the existing 
term of each operating lease.

No purchase options exist in relation to operating leases and no operating lease contains restrictions on financing or other leasing 
activities. Certain property leases contain renewal option clauses.

Contingencies
Parent entity
The parent company has guaranteed under the terms of an ASIC Class Order any deficiency of funds if Thebe International Pty Ltd, 
Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd are wound up. No such deficiency currently exists.

Group
The Group is involved in various legal matters in the ordinary course of business. An estimate of the financial effect of these matters 
cannot be calculated as it is not practical to do so at this stage. The Group has disclaimed liability for, and is defending, all current 
claims and actions that have been made.
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Note 29. Commitments and contingencies continued

Contingencies continued

Group continued
Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for termination without cause under service agreements with the executive director of 
the company and certain officers of the group. The compensation for termination without cause is equal to the total of amounts that 
would have been payable under the agreement during the balance of the term of the agreement.

Contingent liabilities exist for compensation for restrictive covenants under service agreements with executive directors of the 
company and certain officers of the group upon expiration or termination of these agreements.

Indemnity agreements have been entered into with executive directors of the company and with certain officers of the group 
in respect of expenses and liabilities they incur in their official capacities. No monetary limit applies to these agreements and 
no known obligations have emerged as a result of these agreements.

Cross guarantees given by Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Holdings Pty Ltd, 
and Breville Pty Ltd are described in Note 30(a).

Note 30. Related party disclosure

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Housewares International Limited and the subsidiaries 
listed in the following table.

 Country of  
Legal entity Incorporation Equity Interest Investment

   30 June  30 June 30 June 30 June 
   2007 2006 2007 2006
  Note % % $’000 $’000

Thebe International Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 69,429 69,429

Investments not held directly  
by Housewares International Limited:

Breville Holdings Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 – –

Breville Pty Ltd Australia (a) 100 100 – –

Breville R&D Pty Ltd Australia  100 100 – –

Breville NZ Ltd New Zealand  100 100 – –

Breville International Pty Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

Gannet Holdings Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

HWI Export Ltd Hong Kong  100 100 – –

Thebe International, Inc. USA  100 100 – –

Metro/Thebe, Inc. USA  100 100 – –

Holding HWI Canada, Inc Canada  100 100 – –

HWI Canada, Inc Canada  100 100 – –

Anglo-Canadian Housewares, L.P. Canada  100 50 – –

HWI China Holdings Limited Hong Kong  100 100 – –

     69,429 69,429

Housewares International Limited is the ultimate parent of the Group incorporated in Australia.

(a) Entities subject to class order relief

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted to Thebe International Pty Ltd, Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holdings 
Pty Ltd from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports.

As a condition of the Class Order, Housewares International Limited and Thebe International Pty Ltd, entered into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee on 4 November 1999. This deed was subsequently assumed by Breville Pty Ltd and Breville Holding Pty Ltd under an 
assumption deed dated 19 December 2001. The effect of the deed is that Housewares International Limited has guaranteed to 
pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of either controlled entity or if they do not meet their obligations under the terms of 
overdrafts, loans, leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in 
the event that Housewares International Limited is wound up or if it does not meet its obligation under the terms of overdrafts, loans, 
leases or other liabilities subject to the guarantee.
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Note 30. Related party disclosure continued

The entities comprising the Class Order “Closed Group” are Housewares International Limited, Thebe International Pty Ltd, 
Breville Pty Ltd, and Breville Holdings Pty Ltd. The consolidated income statement and balance sheet of the entities that are 
members of the “Closed Group” are as follows:
  Closed Group

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
   Note $’000 $’000

(i) Consolidated balance sheet for Class Order Closed Group

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents    19,419 9,547

Trade and other receivables    55,343 45,699

Inventories    35,273 59,999

Other financial assets    277 609

Current tax asset    3,535 3,942

Other assets    464 2,578

Total current assets    114,311 122,374

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables    1,000 –

Other financial assets    18,386 18,755

Plant and equipment    6,353 9,615

Intangible assets    48,199 75,995

Deferred tax assets    14,386 4,942

Total non-current assets    88,324 109,307

Total assets    202,635 231,681

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables    29,764 26,276

Borrowings    34,900 181

Other financial liabilities    2,675 1,052

Provisions    2,862 2,521

Total current liabilities    70,201 30,030

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables    – 392

Borrowings    35,000 65,400

Deferred tax liabilities    3,643 2,908

Provisions    2,847 936

Total non-current liabilities    41,490 69,636

Total liabilities    111,691 99,666

Net assets    90,944 132,015

Equity

Issued capital    130,713 128,237

Reserves    (1,916) (704)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)   30(ii) (37,853) 4,482

Total equity    90,944 132,015
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  Closed Group

    30 June 30 June 
     2007  2006 
   Note $’000 $’000

Note 30. Related party disclosure continued

(ii) Consolidated income statement for Class Order Closed Group
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax expense    (44,843) 9,016

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities    6,830 (102)

Net profit    (38,013) 8,914

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year    4,482 11,146

Application of AASB 132 and AASB 139    – 167

Dividends paid or reinvested    (4,322) (15,745)

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) at the end of the year   30(i) (37,853) 4,482

(a) Ultimate controlling entity

The ultimate controlling entity of the group in Australia is Housewares International Limited.

(b) Wholly owned group transactions

During the financial period, loans were advanced and repayments received on inter-company accounts with related parties in the 
wholly owned group. These transactions were undertaken on commercial terms and conditions. The amounts due and receivable 
are set out in the respective notes to the financial statements.

The ownership interests in related parties in the wholly owned group are set out in Note 30.

(c) Other related party transactions

In the prior financial year, HWI Canada Inc. (a member of the wholly owned group) had provided a loan to Anglo Canadian 
Housewares L.P. (jointly controlled entity) for Canadian Dollar $1,000,000, the Australian Dollar equivalent of this balance at 
30 June 2006 was $1,245,000. Anglo Canadian Housewares L.P. became a wholly owned subsidiary on 1 January 2007.

(d) Key management personnel

Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in Note 33.

Note 31. Share-based payment plans

Senior executive option plan (SEOP1)

An option plan exists where executive directors, executives and certain members of staff of the group were issued with options over 
the ordinary shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, were issued in accordance with 
performance guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options were issued for a term of five 
years and are exercisable in equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. The exercise price of the options 
is equal to the market price of the shares on the date of grant. The options cannot be transferred and are not quoted on the ASX. 
There are no cash settlement alternatives.

Second senior executive option plan (SEOP2)

An option plan exists where executive directors, executives and certain members of staff of the group are issued with options over 
the ordinary shares of Housewares International Limited. The options, issued for nil consideration, are issued in accordance with 
performance guidelines established by the directors of Housewares International Limited. The options are issued for a term of five 
years and are exercisable in equal tranches on the first three anniversaries of the date of issue. The options vest if and when the 
Group’s earnings per share increase by 10%. If this increase is not met within the three year from the date of grant, the options are 
forfeited. The contractual life of each option granted is five years. There are no cash alternatives. The options cannot be transferred 
and will not be quoted on the ASX.
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Note 31. Share-based payment plans continued

Options granted under the Senior Executive Option Plans

The expense recognised in the income statement in relation to share-based payments is disclosed in Note 2(f).

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of and movements in share options 
issued during the year:

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

  Number  Number  
 Note of options WAEP of options WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year (a) 4,806,666 1.8644 2,032,666 1.8780

Granted during the year  50,000 1.9600 3,105,000 1.8634

Exercised during the year (b) (578,000) 1.8500 (40,000) 1.8500

Forfeited during the year  (990,000) 1.9383 (291,000) 1.9513

Outstanding at the end of the year (a),(c) 3,288,666 1.8498 4,806,666 1.8644

Exercisable at the end of the year  895,666 1.8942 1,445,000 1.8500

Notes

(a)  Included within this balance are 561,000 options over shares (2006: 1,258,000 shares) that have not been recognised in 
accordance with AASB 2 Share-based payments as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002. These options 
have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 2.

(b) The weighted average share price at the date of exercise was $2.67 (2006: $1.77).

(c) The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2007 is represented by:

 Number   Grant Vesting Expiry WAEP 
 of options Note date date date $

 181,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 03 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 204,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 04 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 05 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (i) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 05 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 254,000  31 Jul 02 31 Jul 05 31 Jul 07 1.8500

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 06 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 83,333 (i) 13 Jun 03 13 Jun 06 13 Jun 08 1.8500

 333,333 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 06 15 Dec 07 1.6600

 453,335 (iii) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 07 7 Apr 08 1.9600

 30,000 (ii) 15 Apr 04 15 Apr 07 15 Apr 09 2.2900

 333,333 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 07 15 Dec 08 1.6600

 453,333 (iii) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 08 7 Apr 09 1.9600

 333,334 (iii) 15 Dec 05 15 Dec 08 15 Dec 09 1.6600

 453,332 (iii) 7 Apr 06 7 Apr 09 7 Apr 10 1.9600

 33,000 (iv) Various Various Various 1.8500

 3,288,666     1.8498

(i)  These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business day 
immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.22.

(ii)  These options may only be exercisable if the weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the business day 
immediately preceding proposed exercise is a least $2.75.

(iii) These options may only be exercisable if the relevant underlying EPS growth rate exceeds 10%.
(iv) These options lapsed subsequent to 30 June 2007.
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Note 31. Share-based payment plans continued

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 June 2007 is between 1 and 3 years 
(2006: 1 and 4 years).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year were $1.66 to $2.29 (2006: $1.66 to $2.29).

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.22 (2006: $0.22).

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the senior executive option plans is estimated as at the date of 
grant using either a binomial or Black-Scholes option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the models used for the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007:

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

  (Black- (Black- (Black- 
Average of 1st, 2nd & 3rd tranches:  Scholes) Scholes) Scholes)

Dividend yield (%)  6.83 6.83 8.33

Expected volatility (%)  34.25 34.25 32.97

Historical volatility (%)  34.25 34.25 32.97

Risk-free interest rate (%)  6.58 5.83 5.67

Expected life of option (years)  2 years 2 years 2 years

Option exercise price ($)  1.96 1.96 1.66

Weighted average share price at grant date ($)  1.94 1.84 1.56

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not 
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of options granted were incorporate into the measurement of fair value.

Note 32. Employee benefits

The number of full-time equivalent staff employed by the consolidated group as at 30 June 2007 was 452 (30 June 2006: 562). 
The number of full-time equivalent staff employed by the parent entity as at 30 June 2007 was nil (30 June 2006: nil).

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Employee benefits

The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Trade and other payables (current) 18 3,545 3,619 – –

Provisions – long service (current) 20 1,066 1,398 – –

Provisions – long service (non-current) 20 637 936 – –

  5,248 5,953 – –

noteS to the Financial StateMentS continued

FoR the yeaR ended 30 june 2007

hWi annual RepoRt 200776



Note 33. Key management personnel

(a) Details and remuneration of key management personnel

The company has applied the option under the Corporations Amendments Regulation 2006 to transfer key management personnel 
remuneration disclosures required by Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 
25.7.2, to the remuneration report section of the directors’ report. These transferred disclosures have been audited.

(b) Details of key management personnel

(i) Directors
J. Schmoll Non-executive chairman
S. Klein Non-executive director
S. Fisher Non-executive director
J. McConnell Non-executive director
J. Hersch Managing director

(ii) Executives
R. Carr VP Sales (Metro) (retired 31 December 2006)
V. Cheung Managing director Hong Kong
M. Cohen Group Chief financial officer (appointed 9 October 2006)
A. Gelemanovic Group human resources manager (retrenchment 23 July 2007)
M. Kirkby General manager corporate finance (retired 30 September 2006)
B. Liu CEO Metro/Thebe Inc (USA)
M. Melis General manager product development and manufacturing
P. Milburn Group risk manager/company secretary
S. Wood General manager Anglo-Canadian Housewares

Other than the retrenchment of Ms Gelemanovic there were no changes of key management personnel after reporting date and 
before the date the financial report was authorised for issue.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Compensation by category: key management personnel

Short-term  3,635 4,245 – –

Post employment (i) 321 282 – –

Other long-term  33 35 – –

Termination benefits  731 29 – –

Share-based payment  110 93 – –

Total  4,830 4,684 – –

(i) This includes defined contribution plans expense of $321,000 (2006: $282,000).
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Note 33. Key management personnel continued

(d) Option holdings of key management personnel (Consolidated)

 Balance Granted as  Net Balance  Vested at 30 June 2007
 at 1 July remuner- Options change at 30 June   Not  
30 June 2007 2006 ation exercised other# 2007 Total exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J. Hersch 1,166,666 – – – 1,166,666 499,999 333,333 166,666

Executives

R. Carr 80,000 – – (80,000) – – – –

V. Cheung 90,000 – – – 90,000 90,000 – 90,000

A. Gelemanovic 100,000 – – – 100,000 33,333 33,333 –

L. Jackson 100,000 – – – 100,000 33,333 33,333 –

M. Kirkby 200,000 – – (200,000) – – – –

B. Liu 100,000 – – – 100,000 33,333 33,333 –

M. Melis 150,000 – – – 150,000 110,000 20,000 90,000

P. Milburn 30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000 – 30,000

Total 2,016,666 – – (280,000) 1,736,666 829,998 453,332 376,666

 Balance Granted as  Net Balance  Vested at 30 June 2006
 at 1 July remuner- Options change at 30 June   Not  
30 June 2006 2005 ation exercised other# 2006 Total exercisable Exercisable

Directors

J. Hersch 166,666 1,000,000 – – 1,166,666 166,666 166,666 –

M. Kirkby – 200,000 – – 200,000 – – –

Executives

V. Cheung 90,000 – – – 90,000 90,000 – 90,000

M. Delauney 90,000 60,000 – (150,000) – N/A N/A N/A

A. Gelemanovic – 100,000 – – 100,000 – – –

L. Jackson 20,000 100,000 (20,000) – 100,000 – – –

B. Liu – 100,000 – – 100,000 – – –

M. Melis 90,000 60,000 – – 150,000 60,000 60,000 –

P. Milburn 30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000 – 30,000

Total 486,666 1,620,000 (20,000) (150,000) 1,936,666 346,666 226,666 120,000

# Includes forfeitures.

Refer Note 31 and remuneration report (contained within the directors’ report designated as audited) for details on the above options.
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Note 33. Key management personnel continued

(e) Shareholdings of key management personnel (Consolidated)

Ordinary Shares held in Housewares International Limited (number)

 Balance at Granted as On exercise Net change Balance at
30 June 2007 1 July 2006 remuneration of options other# 30 June 2007

Directors

J. Schmoll 10,000 – – – 10,000

J. Hersch 2,143,292 – – – 2,143,292

S. Klein 109,081 – – 2,344 111,425

S. Fisher 267 – – 6 273

J. McConnell 62,847 – – 814 63,661

Executives

R. Carr 47,500 – – N/A N/A

L. Jackson 60,000 – – N/A N/A

M. Kirkby 11,628 – – N/A N/A

P. Milburn 60,000 – – – 60,000

Total 2,504,615 – – 3,164 2,388,651

 Balance at Granted as On exercise Net change Balance at
30 June 2006 1 July 2005 remuneration of options other# 30 June 2006

Directors

J. Schmoll 10,000 – – – 10,000

J. Hersch 2,143,292 – – – 2,143,292

S. Klein 101,049 – – 8,032 109,081

S. Fisher 246 – – 21 267

J. McConnell 60,059 – – 2,788 62,847

W. Wavish 104,727 – – N/A N/A

M. Kirkby 511,628 – – (500,000) 11,628

Executives

M. Delauney 10,000 – – N/A N/A

L. Jackson 40,000 – 20,000 – 60,000

P. Milburn N/A – – – 60,000

Total 2,981,001 – 20,000 (489,159) 2,457,115

#  All equity transactions with key management personnel other than those arising from the exercise of remuneration options have been entered into 
under terms and conditions no more favourable than those the Group would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.

During the year key management personnel were eligible to acquire shares through participation in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
offered to all shareholders.
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Note 33. Key management personnel continued

(f) Loans to key management personnel (Consolidated)

(i) Details of aggregates of loans to key management personnel are as follows:

 Balance at 
 beginning Balance at Interest Interest  Number in 
 of period end of period charged not charged Repaid group at
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 end of period

2007 222 111 4 – (111) 1

2006 549 222 31 – (475) 2

(ii) Details of individuals with loans above $100,000 in the reporting period are as follows:

 Balance at     Highest
 beginning Balance at Interest Interest  owing in 
 of period end of period charged not charged Repaid period
30 June 2007 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executives

L. Jackson 111 – 2 – (111) 111

P. Milburn 111 111 2 – – 111

 Balance at     Highest 
 beginning Balance at Interest Interest  owing in
 of period end of period charged not charged Repaid period
30 June 2006 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Directors

M. Kirkby 475 – 18 – (475) 475

Executives

L. Jackson 74 111 5 – – 111

P. Milburn N/A 111 8 – – 111

Terms and conditions of loans
Housewares International Limited has provided loans to fund the exercise of options to acquire shares in the company. The loans 
were issued in accordance with the terms of the Housewares International Senior Executive Option Plan such that interest on the 
loan equals the dividends and other distributions payable from time to time on the company shares acquired with the loan.
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Note 33. Key management personnel continued

(g) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties

Services
Mr Klein is a partner of the legal firm Arnold Bloch Leibler, and his fees of $73,938 (2006: $59,950) are paid to Arnold Bloch 
Leibler. These fees include GST. Legal services totalling $2,514,809 (2006: $801,086), including Mr Klein’s directors fees, GST and 
disbursements were invoiced by Arnold Bloch Leibler to the consolidated group during the year. The fees paid for these services 
were all at arm’s length. In addition other recharges of legal services from non-related third-parties, such as Counsel’s fees and other 
costs, were billed during the year totalling $469,416 (2006: $68,291).

There have been no other transactions concerning key management personnel during the year.

Total amounts recognised at the reporting date in relation to other transactions and balances with key management personnel:

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
 Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets & liabilities

Current assets

Legal services associated with the business combination  
of the remaining 50% interest of the Anglo Housewares,  
L.P. business (2006: Britette Australia Pty Ltd) were  
recognised as part of consideration paid and consequently  
recognised as part of goodwill  63 24 – –

Total assets  63 24 – –

Revenues & expenses
Employee expenses (directors fees)  67 55 – –

Other expenses from ordinary activities (i) 2,178 649 – –

Total expenses  2,245 704 – –

(i) Amounts exclude recharges of non-related third-party costs.

The amounts shown above are GST exclusive.
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Note 34. Auditor’s remuneration

 Consolidated Parent

  30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 
  2007  2006  2007  2006 
  $ $ $ $

Amounts received or due and receivable from the  
entity and any other entity in the consolidated entity:

Ernst & Young Australia

– an audit or review of the financial report  311,000 220,450 106,000 75,750

– other services

   – tax compliance  48,000 89,000 – –

   – assurance related  30,000 18,000 – –

   – non-audit related  16,000 – – –

   – AIFRS related  – 91,750 – –

Ernst & Young Australia’s affiliates

– an audit or review of the financial report  125,000 107,000 – –

– other services

   – assurance related  2,000 – – –

   – tax compliance  100,000 17,000 – –

  632,000 543,200 106,000 75,750

Note 35. Significant Events after year-end

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year, which significantly affected or may affect the operations of the 
consolidated entity.

The financial report of Housewares International Limited for the year ended 30 June 2007 was authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 24 August 2007.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Housewares International Limited, I state that:

1. In the opinion of the directors:

 (a)  the financial report and the additional disclosures included in the directors’ report designated as audited, of the company 
and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2007 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

  (ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

2.   This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with sections 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2007.

3.  In the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the 
Closed Group identified in Note 30(a) will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, 
by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee.

On behalf of the Board

Joseph Hersch
Director

Melbourne
24 August 2007

diRectoRS’ declaRation
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Substantial shareholders as at 2 October 2007

The following information is extracted from the company’s register of substantial shareholders

 Number of  Percentage of 
Name ordinary shares ordinary shares 

Lew Custodians Pty Limited 33,157,111 26.39

Harbinger Capital Partners Master Fund 1 Limited 23,776,058 18.93

Distribution of shareholdings as at 2 October 2007

Size of Holding  Ordinary shareholders

1 to 1,000  398

1,001 to 5,000  1,025

5,001 to 10,000  488

10,001 to 100,000  520

100,001 and over  35

Total shareholders  2,466

 
Number of ordinary shareholders with less than a marketable parcel  144

Voting Rights

All ordinary shares issued by Housewares International Limited carry one vote per share without restriction.

ShaReholdeR inFoRMation

87



Twenty largest shareholders as at 2 October 2007

 Number of  Percentage of 
Name ordinary shares ordinary shares 

Premier Investments Limited 26,903,207 21.41

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSI ECSA 18,595,995 14.80

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 14,133,753 11.25

National Nominees Limited 6,834,651 5.44

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSCO ECA 6,445,076 5.13

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 5,601,090 4.46

S L Nominees Pty Limited 3,529,154 2.81

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited  
(PIPOOLED account) 3,325,352 2.65

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (CFSIL CFS WS Small Comp Account) 3,222,012 2.56

ANZ Nominees Limited (cash income account) 2,340,869 1.86

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited- account 2 2,308,365 1.84

UBS Nominees Pty Limited 1,871,799 1.49

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 1,578,058 1.26

Nofusa Pty Limited 1,559,958 1.24

Lew Family Investments Limited 1,238,850 0.99

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 682,799 0.54

Lew Family Investments Pty Limited 600,000 0.48

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (CFSIL CWLTH Small Comp 3 Account ) 534,119 0.43

Mr Joseph Hersch 500,000 0.40

Malla Pty Limited 460,253 0.37

Total 102,265,360 81.40

ShaReholdeR inFoRMation
continued
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Chairman’s review 1  Ceo’s review 2  Strong brand portfolio 4  Strong Commitment to Innovation and growth 6 
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agM friday 23 november 2007 at 10am, Housewares International, building 1, port air Industrial estate, 1a Hale Street, 
botany nSW  Housewares International ltd aCn 086 933 431  

70’s CelebratIng

75 yearS  
of brevIlle

30’s

In 1974 Breville launched the ‘scissor-
action’ Snack-n-Sandwich Maker 
achieving an amazing 10% penetration 
of Australian households in its first year.

It is the icon that many people still 
associate with Breville.

As Asian cooking became more 
popular in Australia, Breville 
developed an Electric Wok that 
could replicate the even heating 
of gas by creating an innovative 
‘butterfly’ element bonded to a 
heavy gauge pan.

Before the development of the Breville Juice 
Fountain, making juice was messy and 
time consuming.

 This remarkable piece of engineering removed 
any preparation as it juiced whole fruit.

Breville Radio was registered in 
the depression era 1932 on an 
investment of £500. This was 
the origin of Breville innovation. 

Breville also designed and 
manufactured a number of 
appliances that were ahead 
of their time: among these 
products was the Breville Five 
Minute Washer, which enjoyed 
spectacular success before 
and after the war.

Breville Professional 800 Collection 
Programmable Espresso Machine. 
Breville’s unique trio of innovations: 
Auto-Purge, Triple-Prime and Advance 
Dual Wall Crema, extracts the essential 
ingredients for great tasting coffee.

This financial report covers both Housewares International 
Limited (Parent) as an individual entity and the consolidated 
entity (Group) comprising Housewares International Limited 
and its subsidiaries.

A description of the Group’s operations and of its principal 
activities is included in the review of operations and activities 
in the directors’ report on pages 10 to 19. The directors’ report 
is not part of the financial report.
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John Schmoll
Non-Executive Chairman

Joseph Hersch – retired 30 September 2007
Managing Director 

Steven Fisher
Non-Executive Director

Steven Klein
Non-Executive Director

John McConnell
Non-Executive Director

Company secretary
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Shiraz Khan – appointed 28 September 2007

Registered office
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1A Hale Street
Botany NSW 2019
Telephone (+61 2) 9384 8100

Principal place of business

Building 2
1A Hale Street
Botany NSW 2019
Telephone (+61 2) 9384 8100

Company websites

www.housewares.com.au
www.breville.com 
www.kambrook.com.au

CoMpany dIreCtory

Share register

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Yarra Falls
452 Johnston Street
Abbotsford Victoria 3067

Enquiries within Australia: 1300 850 505
Enquiries outside Australia: (+61 3) 9415 4000
Website: www.computershare.com

Auditors
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8 Exhibition Street 
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Solicitors
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Bankers

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
530 Collins Street
Melbourne Victoria 3000
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